Key Figures 2002

Science, Technology and Innovation

Towards a European Research Area

Research



Key Figures 2002

LEGAL NOTICE

Neither the European Commission nor any person acting on behalt of the Commission is responsible for the use which may be made of the following information.

© European Communities, 2002 Research DG

15

E



OFFICE FOR OFFICIAL PUBLICATIONS OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES



L-2985 Luxembourg

Towards a European Research Area

Science, Technology and Innovation

Key Figures 2002

Published by the EUROPEAN COMMISSION Research Directorate General B-1049 • BRUSSELS

LEGAL NOTICE

Neither the European Commission nor any person acting on behalf of the Commission is responsible for the use which might be made of the following information. A great deal of additional information on the European Union is available on the Internet. It can be accessed through the Europa server (http://europa.eu.int).

Cataloguing data can be found at the end of this publication.

Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 2002 ISBN 92-894-4205-0 © European Communities, 2002 Reproduction is authorized provided the source is acknowledged. Printed in Spain Printed on white chlorine free paper

EUROPEAN COMMISSION RESEARCH

Commissioner : Philippe Busquin

Directorate-General for Research

Director General: Achilleas Mitsos

The Directorate-General for Research initiates, develops and follows the Commission's political initiatives for the realisation of the European Research Area. It conceives and implements the necessary Community actions, in particular the Framework Programmes in terms of research and technological development. It also contributes to the implementation of the "Lisbon Strategy" regarding employment, competitiveness at international level, the economic reform and the social cohesion within the European Union.

The Directorate «Knowledge-Based Economy and Society» (Directorate K, Director : Jean-François Marchipont) contributes to the realisation of the European Research Area in the fields of the social sciences, economic, science and technology foresight, and the respective analyses. To this end, it monitors and encourages science and technology foresight activities, conducts the economic analyses necessary for the work of the Directorate-General, and co-ordinates policy as regards the relevant political, economic, human and social sciences. It prepares the European reports on science and technology indicators, and it contributes to the development and implementation of the Framework Programmes in these fields. It monitors the progress made in the implementation of the Lisbon strategy.

The Unit K 3 "Competitiveness, Economic Analysis and Indicators" (Head of Unit : Ugur Muldur) contributes to the Directorate General's policy conception and analysis. It is also responsible for the development and implementation of the related research actions in these fields (Action CBSTII of the 5th Framework Programme) and ensures the publication of DG reports like the *Key Figures : Towards a European Research Area* and the *European Reports on S&T Indicators* and conducts the analyses necessary for the benchmarking of national policies and the mapping of excellence in economics.

The "Key Figures 2002" was prepared by the Unit K3 team : Jean Bourlès, Fabienne Corvers, Vincent Duchêne, Angela Hullmann, Kai Husso, Marianne Paasi, Ian Perry, Viola Peter, Brian Sloan, Richard Torbett and with the technical assistance of Fotini Chiou, Timo Hirvonen, Dermot Lally and Anastassia Vakalopoulou. Secretarial support was provided by Bénédicte de Smet, Marie Jonkers, Gaetane Lecocq and Lise Vanneck.

Contact : Fotini Chiou e-mail: fotini.chiou@cec.eu.int; tel. (32-2) 296 90 26; fax. (32-2) 296 28 40 URL : www.cordis.lu/rtd2002/indicators/home.html

PREFACE

The challenges facing Europe at the beginning of the 21st century are manifold. Europe's transition towards a knowledge-based economy will be accompanied by structural changes in industry, as well as a shifting profile of its human capital due to a rapidly ageing population. Moreover, the goals of the European Union of ensuring sustainable economic growth, employment and social cohesion are soon to be extended to a number of candidate countries.

One of the main engines for attaining these socio-economic objectives is technological change, induced primarily by research and development (R&D). This has been acknowledged already at the Lisbon Council in 2000, which set the goal to make Europe *«the most competitive and dynamic knowledge-based economy in the world»* by 2010. Strategies to achieve this goal are now being

implemented. In terms of research and development, a major step forward has been the strengthening of measures to create a European Research Area (ERA), which has provided a framework for research policy in Europe since 2000, and will help to improve the overall efficiency of European research efforts.

Several instruments have been established for this purpose. Policy makers in the Member States have already been actively involved in successful instruments such as the 'Benchmarking of national research policies', while the Community's 6^{th} Framework Programme for Research and Technological Development will also provide a strong tool for integrating, structuring and strengthening the European Research Area.

The Barcelona European Council in March 2002 was another step forward, with European governments deciding to increase the EU's overall spending on R&D to 3% of GDP by the year 2010. The decision to increase R&D spending, coupled with a restructuring of the European research landscape towards a true internal research market characterised by high levels of mobility, competition, and research excellence will provide a strong base for our future.

Against this challenging policy background, it is all the more important to know where Europe stands in terms of science and technology, and how its position is evolving. I am therefore very happy to present the 2002 edition of Key Figures, which provides a profile of European S&T in the form of key indicators. This year's report not only contains a carefully selected set of data that describes the main dimensions of European S&T, but also includes the updated data for the research benchmarking exercise. I hope it will be welcomed as a useful tool for policy makers and the interested public.



Philippe Busquin

CONTENTS

Introduction	7
AN OVERVIEW OF EUROPE'S INVESTMENT AND PERFORMANCE IN THE KNOWLEDGE-BASED ECONOMY	9
PART 1: R&D INVESTMENT FOR THE KNOWLEDGE-BASED ECONOMY 1.1 Total investment in R&D 1.2 Community Funded Research 1.3 Private investment in R&D 1.4 Venture Capital Investment	14 15 20 24 30
PART 2: HUMAN RESOURCES IN S&T 2.1 Researchers 2.2 S&T graduates and PhD recipients 2.3 Investment in tertiary education 2.4 International Mobility 2.5 Women in S&T	34 35 37 39 40 41
PART 3: COMPARING PERFORMANCES IN SCIENCE, TECHNOLOGY AND INNOVATION 3.1 Scientific Performance 3.2 Technological Performance 3.3 Performance in commercialising technology	43 43 49 54
PART 4: IMPACTS OF THE KNOWLEDGE-BASED ECONOMY ON COMPETITIVENESS 4.1 Labour productivity 4.2 High-tech and medium high-tech industries 4.3 Knowledge intensive services	58 59 61 61
PART 5: RESEARCH IN EFTA AND CANDIDATE COUNTRIES: GREAT POTENTIAL 5.1 EFTA-countries: Investment and performances in scientific and technological knowledge production 5.2 Candidate countries: Investment and performances in scientific and technological knowledge production	67 68 70

ANNEX I: BASIC MACROECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC DATA	74
ANNEX II: DEFINITIONS AND SOURCES	75 75 75
Part 2: Human resources in S&T Part 3: Scientific, technological and innovation performance Part 4: Competitiveness	76 77 78 78
ANNEX III: METHODOLOGICAL CHANGES IN BIBLIOMETRIC BENCHMARKING DATA	79
ANNEX IV: METHODOLOGY OF COMPOSITE INDICATORS	80 80 80 81
Calculation method	82 83
BIBLIOGRAPHY	83

Introduction

Science, Technology and Innovation at the Crossroads

Since the development and achievement of the Single Market, Europe has made many steps towards achieving its goals of sustainable growth, social cohesion and international competitiveness. However, these goals remain, and there are many challenges in sustaining prosperity, stability and growth in an ever-changing world.

During the 1980s and 1990s, great structural changes in industry have had significant impact on employment patterns and growth. Such changes include the rise of information and communication technologies (ICTs), and of multinational firms, the decline in manufacturing industry and the increased importance of the service sector, as well as changing supply and production processes. While some industries seem to manage the structural changes better than others, the effects on growth and employment at the country level is becoming far more unequally distributed.

Coping with these structural changes is inevitable for industrialised countries such as the EU-15 Member States. However, the EU-15 is facing other socio-economic challenges at the same time. While the transition to a knowledge-based economy already requires a lot from firms and individuals, it offers a range of opportunities for substantial institutional change. However, the rapid ageing of populations in European countries poses additional challenges.

Policy developments

During the Lisbon European Council in 2000, the European Council expressed the will to make Europe *«the most competitive and dynamic knowledge-based economy in the world capable of sustainable economic growth with more and better jobs and greater social cohesion*". In assessing progress towards this ambitious and multifaceted objective it is important to obtain a global overview of efforts and performance on a number of different policy axes: not just research and development, but also innovation, education, e-society and other fields. With this in mind, the European Commission services have started work on two composite indicators for the knowledge-based economy in the framework of the Structural Indicators exercise and the Spring Report. In the first section of Key Figures 2002 the first results from using these indicators are presented.

Of course research and development (R&D) is one of the key means to achieve the Lisbon goal. The key role of R&D, from investment to execution, diffusion and innovation can certainly not solve all structural difficulties but might prove to be vital for economic success. The importance of R&D is however not matched by national investments. A comparison of the investments made by EU-15 countries, the US and Japan in R&D in the previous decade reveals great differences. The crucial role of R&D for European competitiveness has been underlined repeatedly at successive Council meetings, a high point being the Barcelona Council in 2002, where Heads of State and Government committed themselves to investing 3% of GDP in R&D by 2010.

INTRODUCTION

The Commission has adopted a strategic communication to help start the process of achieving the goal set by the Barcelona Council. The communication is intended to launch a debate on ways of reaching the objectives for R&D investment. In order to help identify areas where policy needs to be mobilised in a coherent way, relevant statistical data and analysis are presented here.

While investing more in R&D is one part of the equation another is better co-ordination of European research. This has been initiated through the creation of the European Research Area (ERA) and related policy actions, such as the 'benchmarking of national research policies'. The European Research Area is the broad heading for a range of linked policies that attempt to co-ordinate European research and facilitate the research policies of the individual Member States. The intention is that the combination of national research and Community-level collaborative work should improve European research capabilities and overall make research more strategic.

Benchmarking update

A key instrument for attaining coherent research and innovation policies is the benchmarking of existing ones. Benchmarking was the focus of the 2001 Key Figures publication; the 15 indicators chosen were explained there in greater detail. Some Member States have released detailed methodological reports as well, for example the *Wissenschafts- und Technologieindikatoren* (2001) by the German Statistisches Bundesamt. Now, as the first cycle of data collection and analysis is coming to an end, this Key Figures 2002 edition includes updated data for the 15 indicators where data are available. Qualitative improvements suggested by the Statistical Offices of the Member States have been taken into account where possible.

The national statistical offices of the Member States have validated most of the data used for the benchmarking update, while private sources were used to obtain data that are not collected at national level (such as data on venture capital, publications, and patents).

Range of indicators

The benchmarking indicators, which have been chosen as the basis for policy analyses, fit well under the chosen subject headings. However, there is a shortcoming relating to differences in definitions and calculation methods. In some cases, such as human resources, the definitions chosen for the benchmarking exercise differ from those in general use; in others missing data lead to differences in estimates, possibly leading to slight differences in macroeconomic outcomes.

The range of indicators gives insight into many of the important issues influencing the innovation process, and the presentation of data also gives valuable information about the investment and performance of a range of countries or regions.

However, it should be emphasised that data are only one important contribution in understanding complex subject matters. In addition, qualitative information is needed to analyse, understand and learn from comparing the performance of science, technology and innovation in different countries.

An Overview of Europe's Investment and Performance in the Knowledge-Based Economy

The Lisbon European Council in 2000 set the ten-year goal of making the EU the most competitive and dynamic knowledgebased economy in the world. Subsequent Council meetings in Stockholm and Barcelona have served to review and add further impetus to these objectives. This chapter gives a first overview of the progress made in the transition to a knowledge-based economy.

However, monitoring the progress made by the Member States towards this goal is not an easy task. The knowledge-based economy is a complex, multidimensional phenomenon that cannot be captured by any single indicator. The number of different aspects that need to be included in any assessment of the knowledgebased economy makes it extremely difficult to distil the "big picture".

Composite indicators provide a way of addressing this problem. By aggregating a number of different variables, composite indicators are able to summarise the big picture in relation to a complex issue with many dimensions. In this section two composite indicators are presented: a composite indicator of investment in the knowledge-based economy, and a composite indicator of performance in the knowledge-based economy (for details of these indicators see Annex IV).

Composite indicator of investment in the knowledge-based economy

In order to advance effectively towards the knowledge-based economy, countries need to invest in both the creation and the dissemination of new knowledge. The composite indicator of investment in the knowledge-based economy addresses these two crucial dimensions of investment. It includes key indicators relating to R&D effort, investment in highly-skilled human capital (researchers and PhDs), the capacity and quality of education systems (education spending and life-long learning), purchase of new capital equipment that may contain new technology, and the modernisation of public services (e-government). Table A shows the sub-indicators of this composite indicator.

Table A. Component indicators for the composite indicator of investment in the knowledge-based economy

Sub-indicators	Type of knowledge indicator
Total R&D expenditure per capita Number of researchers per capita New S&T PhDs per capita	Knowledge <i>creation</i> Knowledge <i>creation</i> Knowledge <i>creation</i>
Total Education Spending per capita	Knowledge creation and diffusion
Life-long learning E-government	Knowledge <i>diffusion</i> : human capital Knowledge <i>diffusion</i> : information infrastructure
Gross fixed capital formation (excluding construction)	Knowledge <i>diffusion</i> : new embedded technology

Figure A shows on the horizontal axis the position of each country compared with the other Member States in terms of its investment

level in 1999. On the vertical axis, it measures the extent to which each country progressed over the years 1995-1999.

First, this figure confirms that the EU is lagging behind the US in terms of both investment level and growth (even if the European rate of growth is rather similar to that of the US and above Japan's). However, some Member States (Finland, Sweden and Denmark) have levels of investment and growth patterns comparable to or better than the US and Japan.

Beyond this first observation, the composite indicator also allows an interesting comparison between the Member States. Obviously, there are different strategies to achieve the transition towards a knowledge-based economy. Some countries or regions might focus on the creation of new knowledge, whereas others put more emphasis on the diffusion and acquisition of competitive, new knowledge from abroad. Within the Union, a distinction can be made between four groups of countries, based on the efforts made during the period 1995-1999 to fit into a knowledge-based economy.

- The Nordic countries Finland, Sweden, and Denmark are best prepared and are rapidly turning their economies into knowledge-based economies. The rate of growth of their investment is also clearly above the European average.
- A group of six countries Austria, Belgium, France, Germany, The Netherlands and the United Kingdom – are close to, but slightly above, the European average as regards their investment level. France, Germany and the UK have a rate of growth of investment slightly below the European average, whereas Austria, Belgium and The Netherlands are above.



 A third group of three countries – Greece, Portugal and Ireland – have very high growth of investment, which is even above that of the Nordic countries. Greece and Portugal are still below average in terms of investment level, but are catching up at a very

^{(&}lt;sup>1</sup>) Due to non availability of data for US and Japan, three sub-indicators (education spending, e-government and life-long learning) were not included in the comparison between EU, US and Japan. This explains why the two values for EU-15 are slightly different in Figure A. For more details see Annex IV.

rapid pace. Ireland, on the other hand, was already slightly above the European average level in 1999.

• A fourth group consists of two big southern European countries, Spain and Italy. They are both significantly below the EU average as concerns investment levels, although Spain's investment growth is above the EU average. These countries need to invest significantly more in their knowledge economy to converge towards the other European countries.

Composite indicator of performance in the knowledge-based economy

Investment in the knowledge-based economy is only one half of the story. The various elements of investment in knowledge, described above, need to yield successful outcomes if Europe's goals are to be reached. Productivity needs to be maintained and improved but for this to happen, and to be sustainable, there needs to be good performance in science and technology, effective use of the information infrastructure and successful implementation of the education system.

Table B. Component indicators for the composite indicator of performance in the knowledge-based economy

Sub-indicators	Type of knowledge indicator
GDP per hours worked	Productivity
European and US patents per capita	S&T performance
Scientific publications per capita	S&T performance
E-commerce	Output of the information infrastructure
Schooling success rate	Effectiveness of the education system

The second composite indicator, presented here, regroups these four most important elements of the 'performance in the transition to the knowledge-based economy': productivity, scientific and technological performance, usage of the information infrastructure and effectiveness of the education system (cf. Table B).



^{(&}lt;sup>2</sup>) Due to non availability of data for US and Japan, two sub-indicators (e-commerce and schooling success rate) were not included in the comparison between EU, US and Japan. This explains why the two values for EU-15 are slightly different in Figure B. For more details see Annex IV.

Figure B shows on the horizontal axis the position of each country with regard to its performance level in 1999. On the vertical axis, it gives the progress made in this area over the years 1995-1999.

Taken as a whole, the EU is lagging behind the US in terms of performance level. However, in the second half of the nineties the majority of European countries managed to improve their performance level at a more rapid pace than the USA. Nevertheless, this higher growth is still not sufficient to eliminate the existing gap between the EU and the US in the short-term, and certainly not by 2010. To avoid this it is necessary not only to increase the volume of investment made in the knowledge-based economy, but also to improve the way it is allocated and implemented.

Within the European Union, the indicator again shows that it is possible to follow different strategies. Luxembourg, for instance, has the highest performance level and growth, although it invests much less than others in knowledge creation. Thanks to a successful specialisation in some sectors of the economy (especially banking and general business services), it apparently succeeds in attracting highly skilled manpower and generates activities with high value added. Apart from the case of Luxembourg, a distinction can be made within the Union between two large groups of countries in terms of their performance in moving towards the knowledgebased economy. However, the differences here are much less marked than they were for investment.

• A broad group of 10 countries consisting of Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Ireland, the Netherlands, UK and Sweden are quite close to the European average in terms of performance level and growth. Ireland had a much greater rate of growth during the second half of the nineties, which allowed it to approach the EU average by the end of the decade.

• The second group consists of four countries: Greece, Italy, Portugal and Spain. This group was lagging behind the EU average in terms of performance level at the end of the nineties, with a rate of growth around the EU average. The somewhat higher growth of Greece might be a positive consequence of the strong efforts and investments made by this country during the 1990s. However, Portugal's significant increase in investment has not yet been converted into clear effects. It is important to recognise that there is always a time-lag between making the investment and observing improvements in performance.

On the relation between investment and performance

The relationship between what countries invest in knowledge and how this translates into technological and economic performance is highly complex, and is the subject of ongoing research. For one thing, there is clearly a time-lag between the injection of investment and the resulting performance effects. Moreover, just as important as the volume of knowledge investment is where and how the investment is made, in terms of the fields targeted and the instruments chosen. Countries can enhance their performance by exploiting knowledge produced elsewhere and by making their economy more attractive to foreign capital and highly skilled human capital from abroad. Nevertheless, Figure C suggests that there is an observable relationship between investment and performance in the knowledge-based economy. By and large, those countries that invest more in research, education and innovation are also those that have the best performance. At the same time, at EU level, there is a need for further concertation and co-ordination of Member States' efforts in order to avoid duplication and to attain critical mass.



Moreover, at recent European Summits, EU Member States have insisted that, in parallel with targeting overall improvements in macro-economic conditions, employment and cohesion, Europe needs to reinforce its efforts in building knowledge infrastructures and enhancing innovation. This involves the sound management of structural change in policy areas relating to research, education, innovation and the information society.

While the composite indicators attempt to integrate some key components of these policy fields, the following sections will narrow the focus somewhat to those indicators relating to R&D investment, human resources, the scientific and technological performance and the technological competitiveness of the Member States.

Part 1: R&D Investment for the Knowledge-Based Economy

Scientific and technological knowledge and its wide dissemination play a vital role in the knowledge-based economy. It is widely agreed that research and development (R&D), along with the availability of a highly skilled workforce, the creation of an intense interplay between the stakeholders of national innovation systems, and the effective use of information and communication technologies, are the key conditions for successful innovation and the competitiveness of advanced economies.

The capacity to create and apply knowledge has become more important in the production of goods and services. On the one hand, production is more research-intensive, drawing on the utilisation of research findings; on the other hand, it is technology-intensive, drawing on the exploitation of new technology, and on the command of the knowledge base of advanced and tailored services and complex production processes.

This part of the document first examines the investments that various countries are making in R&D, and the main sectors making those investments. Secondly, some key figures on Community funding of research by means of the Framework Programmes are presented. Thirdly, since in most countries the business sector plays the most important role in terms of R&D spending, private investment will be examined in more detail. As venture capital (VC) investment – from private as well as public sources – becomes more and more important for the creation of new firms and employment, key data on VC investment will conclude this part.

Key findings

- Since the mid-1990s, the gap in R&D financing between the EU and the US has almost doubled in volume terms. The gap is mostly because the growth in R&D activities in the main EU economies has been low by comparison to that in the US, especially in France, the UK and Italy.
- There are substantial differences between Europe and its main competitors in the structure of their R&D funding. In the EU, while governments account for a much larger share of R&D investment than in the US and Japan, the situation is the reverse in the case of business R&D. The absolute volume and the growth of R&D investments being made by European companies are substantially below the levels found in the US.
- The EU countries have converged in terms of the development of their R&D system. On the one hand, most of the small EU economies, and those that are catching up, have recorded the highest growth rates for R&D investment and R&D intensity (the amount of R&D investment per unit of GDP). On the other hand, the major EU economies have registered either comparatively moderate or negative rates for growth of R&D investment and R&D intensity.
- The business sector finances and executes a high share of R&D in several EU countries. However, comparing the EU average to the US and Japanese shares respectively, the EU's business sector is lagging far behind.

■ European Community research funding is complementary to national funding. The new Sixth Framework Programme will amount to over €17 billion for the period 2002-2006 and will be used as the main instrument for establishing the European Research Area.

1.1 Total investment in R&D

The volume of financial resources devoted to R&D is an indicator of the level of commitment to the production and exploitation of new knowledge. It is also an indirect measure of a country's innovation capacity, and reflects the magnitude of accumulation of new knowledge, which is so essential to modern economies. Total R&D investment by main sources of financing provides information on the structure of R&D funding and on the weight of different funding sources in the R&D enterprise as a whole. The 'R&D intensity' indicator, which describes a country's total R&D expenditure in relation to its gross domestic product (GDP), is useful in facilitating comparisons of the R&D activities in countries of different sizes. These indicators are now explored.

As illustrated in Figure 1.1.1, in the year 2000 the EU countries allocated PPS 141bn to R&D, which in current terms is \notin 164bn. This figure was almost 14% higher than in 1997 and some 20% higher than in 1994. As such, the recent trend in R&D investment in the EU has been slighly more favourable, after several years of rather slow growth. In 2000, the equivalent figures for the US and Japan were PPS 226bn (\notin 288bn) and 84bn (\notin 154bn) respectively.



The EU clearly invests less in R&D than the US; the investment gap between the EU and the US was some PPS 86bn (€124bn) in 2000. However, of particular significance here is that the gap has doubled

⁽³⁾ Purchasing Power Standards at 1995 prices, the standard used throughout the report.

in volume terms since the mid-1990s. In 2000, the gap was PPS 7.8bn larger than the previous year. In volume terms, this was the biggest year-to-year change since 1995. The EU does well when compared to Japan: in 2000, the difference was a record PPS 56bn in favour of the EU.

Figure 1.1.2 moves on to examine the growth in R&D investments by country. Since 1995, the growth in R&D investments has been highest among smaller economies (Finland, Belgium, and Denmark) and catching-up countries – those with relatively low absolute volumes of R&D activities and/or R&D intensity. The highest growth rates were recorded for Finland (14% per year), Greece (12%) and Portugal (10%).

Compared to the US (6%), the growth rate was lower in all the major EU economies: in Germany, the UK, France and Italy, real growth in R&D was from 1% to 4% per year. However Germany, with the highest R&D growth rate of the larger EU countries, on its own accounted for over a third of the EU-level increase of absolute volume of R&D between 1995 and 2000. Germany, together with three smaller EU economies (Spain, Finland, and Sweden), accounted for almost 57% of the total increase of R&D activities in the EU.

Financing by sector

Table 1.1.1 shows the share of R&D funding provided by government, the business sector, other national sources and foreign sources by country. In Japan, the business share of R&D financing was, at 72%, the highest among the three economic blocks. In the US, the business sector financed over 68% of all research. These figures stand out clearly when compared to the EU figure of 56%.



By contrast, the government share of R&D funding was the highest in the EU, at 34%. In the US, the figure was 27%, while it was lowest in Japan at less than 20%.

The business sector plays the leading role in R&D financing in most EU countries. However, Finland was the only EU country where the business share of total funding was higher than in the US. The other EU Member States that recorded comparatively high shares for the business sector were Sweden, Germany, Belgium and Ireland, at 64%–68%. Of the major EU economies, the business shares for Italy and the UK were far below the EU average. In Greece and Portugal, the business shares were exceptionally low – less than a quarter of total R&D funding.

Most of the countries that show the highest business sector shares of R&D investment also record the lowest shares for government financing. Public funding accounted for less than 30% of the total in the UK, Finland, Sweden, Belgium and Ireland. At the other end of the scale, in Portugal (70%), Italy (51%) and Greece (49%), the R&D system is mostly dependent on government contributions.

In the EU, the share of funding from abroad was 7.4% of the total. The share of foreign R&D funding was highest in Greece, accounting for almost 25% of the total. The share of foreign funding is also strikingly high in Austria, the UK, Ireland and the Netherlands. The situation is the opposite in Germany, Finland and Sweden, with funding from abroad being very low, below 4%.

le in R&D financing in		enterprise	Gov
was higher than in the	Belgium	66.2	2
, was nighter than in the	Denmark	58.0	Э
rded comparatively high	Germany (1)	66.9	

Table 1.1.1. R&D financing by main sources of funds (%),
latest available year.

	Business enterprise	Government	Other national sources	Abroad	Total
Belgium	66.2	23.2	3.3	7.3	100
Denmark	58.0	32.6	3.5	5.3	100
Germany (1)	66.9	30.7	0.4	2.1	100
Greece	24.2	48.7	2.5	24.7	100
Spain (2)	49.7	38.6	6.8	4.9	100
France	54.1	36.9	1.9	7.0	100
Ireland	64.1	21.8	1.6	12.4	100
Italy (3)	43.0	50.8	-	6.2	100
Netherlands	49.7	35.8	3.4	11.2	100
Austria	40.1	40.3	0.3	19.3	100
Portugal	21.3	69.7	3.7	5.3	100
Finland (2)	70.3	26.2	0.9	2.7	100
Sweden	67.8	24.5	4.2	3.5	100
UK (2)	49.3	28.9	5.5	16.3	100
EU-15 (4)	56.3	34.2	2.1	7.4	100
US (2) (5)	68.2	27.3	4.4	-	100
Japan (2)	72.4	19.6	7.6	0.4	100

Source: DG Research

Data: OECD

Notes: (1) 2001 (2) 2000 (3) 1996 (4) EU average does not include L. (5) excludes most or all capital expenditure.

Key Figures 2002

Benchmarking Indicator

R&D intensity: percentage of GDP spent on R&D

As shown in Figure 1.1.3, the EU's R&D intensity in 2000 was 1.93%. The EU average was 0.8 percentage points below the figure for the US and over 1 percentage point behind Japan. Within the EU there is great diversity. The highest R&D intensity is found in Sweden (3.8%) and Finland (3.4%), followed by Germany (2.5%) and France (2.1%). With 0.7%-1.2%, the lowest levels were recorded for Greece, Portugal, Spain, Italy and Ireland. However, as can be seen in Figure 1.1.4, Greece, Portugal and Spain have scored growth rates for R&D intensity far above EU-average since 1995.

Since 1995, the growth of R&D intensity in the EU has been moderate compared to that of the US and Japan, as shown in Figure 1.1.4. As a result, the EU is currently lagging even more behind the US and Japan than it did in the early 1990s. The recent poor overall development of R&D intensity in the EU is mainly because of the negative trend seen in France, the UK, Ireland and the Netherlands, and the very slow growth experienced in Italy.



Benchmarking Indicator

Government budget allocated to R&D

The data on government budget appropriations on R&D (GBAORD) are based on information collected from government budget statistics. They involve all the budget items concerning research, and reflect governments' intentions regarding spending.

As a proportion of GDP, in 2000 the US government (0.8%) allocated more funds to research than the corresponding authorities in the EU (0.7%) and in Japan (0.6%). Finland (1%) and France (0.9%) were the countries with the highest relative volumes, both even higher than the US (cf. Figure 1.1.5).

In the period 1995-2000, the highest rate of growth in GBAORD in the major economic blocs has been achieved in Japan (over 6%), while in the US and the EU, growth rates were modest, the latter being below 1% per year, as seen in Figure 1.1.6.

There are large differences within the EU. Since the mid-1990s, annual growth has been highest in Luxembourg (16%), Spain (11%), Portugal (11%) and Ireland (9%). Comparatively high growth rates were also recorded for Greece and Finland.

Sweden, France, the UK, Germany and Austria recorded negative annual growth rates. In the first three countries, the development is mostly due to cutbacks in defence R&D. Overall, the slow growth of budget-based R&D funding in the EU is a result of the poor performance of the largest EU economies.





1.2 Community Funded Research

The previous section analysed the funding of R&D by the individual EU Member States in comparison with the US and Japan. This section gives an overview of the additional European investment in R&D, over and above that of Member States, made through the Framework Programmes for Research and Technological Development (FPs) of the European Commission.

Prior to the First Framework Programme (FP1) the European Community primarily invested in R&D related to nuclear energy, coal and steel. However, from the mid 1980s onwards, the European Communities also addressed other European research needs through the FPs and their specific programmes.

Figure 1.2.1 shows how between FP1 and FP5 (1985-2002) the European Communities' contribution to European R&D has risen from the equivalent of 2.5% of the civil part (GBAORD) to stabilise at around 5.5%. In order to be able to make a proper comparison of expenditure under the Framework Programmes with that of the Member States, only that part of the FPs' budgets that would be classified strictly as R&D expenditure is taken into consideration. The actual total budgets of the FPs are some 20% higher than this with the additional money being spent primarily on training, dissemination and innovation activities together with administration.



The aim of FP6 is to contribute to the creation of a European Research Area consolidating the experience of previous FPs (S&T excellence, transnational partnerships, equal access) and using the leverage of FP6 to enhance coherence and increase impact of the European Research and Innovation community. The overall budget for FP6 (2002-2006) is €17.5bn, representing approximately 3.9% of the EU's budget (based on the year 2001). There is a nominal increase in budget between FP5 and FP6 of 17% and a real increase of 8.8%. 93% (€16.27bn) of this budget comes from the European Community funding and the remaining 7% (€1.23bn), from the Euratom treaty. Table 1.2.1 gives the breakdown of total funding including administration within these two parts that make up FP6 (see also Figure 1.2.2 which compares in percentage terms the different priorities from FP1 through to FP6).

European Commission funded research and technological development has always aimed to complement Member States' investment in R&D. This is reflected in the way that it emphasises multi-annual pre-competitive co-operative research bringing together partners from different sectors of the economy (industry, government and higher education). Within the individual projects, it targets key domains often of a multidisciplinary nature, it trains researchers by encouraging international mobility and tries to create added value by carrying out R&D at the European level. Figure 1.2.2 gives an indication of how priorities of Community funded research and technological development have changed over the last 20 years.

Table 1.2.1 Sixth framework programme for research, technological development and demonstration, mio euro

COMMU	JNITY FRAMEWORK PROGRAMME			16 270
Focusing a	and integrating Community research			13 345
Priority 1	Life Sciences, genomics and biotechnology for health Advanced genomics and applications for health	1 100	2 255	
	Combating major diseases	1 1 5 5		
Priority 2	Information society technologie		3 625	
Priority 3	Nanotechnologies, nano-sciences, knowledge based		1 300	
Priority 4	Aeronautics and space		1 075	
Priority 5	Food quality and safety		685	
Priority 6	Sustainable development, global change and ecosystems		2 1 2 0	
	Sustainable energy systems	810		
	Sustainable surface transport	610		
	Global change and ecosystems	700		
Priority 7	Citizens and governance in a knowledge-based society		225	
	Specific actions covering a wider field of research		1 300	
	Policy support and anticipating scientific and technological needs	333		
	Specific measures in support of international co-operation	450		
Structurin	ing the European Research Area	515		2 605
· · · · · ·	Research and innovation		290	
	Human resources		1 580	
	Research infrastructures		655	
	Science and society		80	
Strengthe	ening the foundations of the European Research Area			320
	Support for co-oordination of activities		270	
	Support for coherent development of policies		50	
EURATO	M FRAMEWORK PROGRAMME			1 230
	Management of radioactive waste		90	
	Controlled thermonuclear fusion		750	
	Radiation protection		50	
	Other activities		200	
			290	
GRAND	IOIAL			17 500

Source: DG Research Data: European Commission Key Figures 2002

2 T

New priorities and instruments to implement the European Research Area

Each new Framework Programme for Research and Technological Development brings with it both new ideas and changes in the priorities attributed to established activities. The Sixth Framework Programme (FP6) is no different from its predecessors in this respect.

For the implementation of FP6 three major new instruments have been introduced: *networks of excellence, integrated projects* and *programmes implemented jointly with the Member States.* New subject areas being addressed in depth in FP6 are *Nanotechnologies and Nano-sciences, Citizens and Governance in a Knowledge Based Society* and *Policy Support and Anticipating Scientific and Technological Needs.*

Figure 1.2.2 presents FP6 activities broken down as much as possible along the main lines of FP5 in an attempt to illustrate how the relative priorities of FP activities have changed over the last twenty years. The three types of activities that were the most important in the early years: Energy, Information Society and Competitive and Sustainable Growth still represent three of the four most important elements of FP6. Over the years the importance of two activities Quality of Life and Improving Human Research Potential have consistently increased representing respectively 20% and 16% of funding under FP6. Relative to FP5 the share going to Quality of Life has risen from 17% to 20% and Improving Human Research Potential from 9% to 16%. For Information Society it has decreased from 27% to 23%, for Environment from 8% to 6%. Minor changes have been recorded for Competitive and Sustainable Growth (from 19% to 18%), Energy (14% to 13%), International co-operation (3% to 2%) and for Innovation and Dissemination (3% to 2%).



The new Framework Programme devotes the highest ever budget to SMEs. Over 12% of the budget for the thematic priorities of the Specific programme "Focusing and Integrating community research" will be allocated to SMEs (€1.7bn). A further €0.43bn will go to SMEs through Specific Support Schemes. With a total of over €2.1bn over the next four years, the 6th Framework Programme represents a powerful commitment to support research and innovation for SMEs.



As already mentioned one of the aims of the FPs is to encourage different sectors of the economy to undertake joint R&D activities.

Figure 1.2.3 shows the level of participation in FP5 by type of organisation. Figure 1.2.4 shows the breakdown of Community funding by type of participating organisation.



Table 1.2.2 illustrates the patterns of co-operation between the different Member States measured by counting the number of co-operation links created within individual FP5 projects. These are expressed in terms of percentage relative to the total number of links involving partners from the country. In order to give an idea of the volume of links created under FP5, the last row of the table gives the total number of links for each Member State.

				and	l tota	ls for	Mem	ber S	tates						
	8	¥		ш	Ш	ш	HN	-	RL		N	A	٩	S	NK
Belgium	3.8	4.1	4.5	4.2	4.1	5.3	3.8	4.1	4.4	6.2	5.2	3.8	3.6	3.9	4.5
Denmark	2.8	4.1	2.6	2.6	2.3	2.4	3.8	2.4	4.5	2.4	3.6	2.8	2.5	3.7	3.3
Gemany	15.5	13.1	10.8	14.7	13.5	17.5	15.1	15.6	12.2	11.7	16.3	19.4	13.9	16.1	16.6
Greece	3.8	3.1	3.7	4.4	6.9	3.6	4.1	4.9	4.0	6.2	3.3	3.6	5.2	2.8	3.9
Spain	7.0	6.5	7.2	7.6	7.9	8.0	6.8	9.3	7.3	3.8	6.2	5.9	8.4	6.6	7.1
France	15.0	10.2	14.5	13.6	11.0	10.8	9.5	13.0	10.0	12.8	12.4	10.1	11.3	11.8	13.5
Ireland	1.6	2.4	1.3	1.6	1.6	1.3	1.4	1.4	2.4	1.7	1.7	1.3	1.8	1.5	2.1
Italy	9.8	8.6	10.9	13.2	12.7	10.9	9.6	10.5	9.2	10.5	9.1	8.9	10.7	9.5	10.7
Luxembourg	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.9	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1
Netherlands	7.5	7.7	6.9	5.3	5.1	6.3	5.9	5.5	6.6	5.5	5.5	6.2	6.3	6.2	7.0
Austria	2.1	2.2	3.1	1.9	2.1	1.9	2.3	2.0	2.0	2.6	2.4	6.5	2.3	2.1	1.9
Portugal	1.8	1.8	2.0	2.5	2.8	2.0	2.1	2.2	2.5	3.1	2.2	2.1	3.5	1.7	2.2
Finland	2.7	3.9	3.1	2.8	3.1	2.3	4.5	2.8	2.7	2.6	2.9	2.9	2.9	4.9	2.9
Sweden	4.0	5.6	4.8	4.1	3.1	4.3	7.2	4.1	4.2	3.3	4.4	3.9	3.6	4.7	4.9
United Kingdom	15.1	16.4	16.2	14.2	14.0	15.9	13.7	15.0	18.7	12.1	16.4	11.4	14.8	15.9	10.7
Others	7.3	10.2	8.1	7.2	9.6	7.4	10.0	6.9	9.3	14.7	8.4	10.9	8.8	8.5	8.5
Total %	100	100	100	100	10	<u>10</u>	100	100	100	100	100	10	100	100	100
Total links	14 968	10 193 5	1 162	25 113	13 892	42 602	10 477	35 798	5 508	580	21 540	8 182	7 480	15 401	50 073

Table 1.2.2. Co-operative links created by FP5 projects: percentages between Member States

Source: DG Research Data: European Commission Note: Coverage: all contracts signed before 1/12/2001.

Key Figures 2002

dynamics of its business sector R&D activities. Business sector research activities are conducted by a diversity of firms whether classified by size, sector, turnover, technological specialisation, or whatever. Traditionally, a firm's size is expected to influence its level of knowledge investment and its involvement in R&D activities.

Among others, venture capital providers are involved in financing the seed, start-up and expansion phases of new firms, thus contributing to the creation of new R&D performers that are conducting additional profit oriented R&D. Start-ups in high-tech and knowledge-intensive sectors commercialise knowledge assets.

1.3 Private investment in R&D

Business sector R&D activities stand at the very core of the interactive model of innovation, where the process of innovation can be considered as new combinations of existing and/or new knowledge. The level and dynamics of business sector R&D activities reflect firms' production and utilisation of knowledge as well as absorption of knowledge from other sectors. Ultimately, the resulting innovations create competitiveness, employment and the economic change that happens in a knowledge-based economy. Consequently, Europe's efforts to move towards a competitive knowledge-based economy are strongly reflected in the level and dynamics of its business sector R&D activities.

Part 1: R&D Investment for the Knowledge-Based Economy

National performances

In particular, the efforts of business sector R&D activities in relation to a country's or a region's overall R&D activities inform us about the relative importance of profit-oriented knowledge creation and absorption in the total R&D activities of an economy and society.

Business expenditure on R&D

Figure 1.3.1 shows that in 2000, business expenditure on R&D (BERD) made up the bulk of total domestic R&D expenditure (GERD) in the EU with 65.5%, in the US with 75.3% (a growing trend since 1990), and in Japan with 71% (which saw a contraction over the period). However, in Member States such as Portugal and Greece, the shares are only 22.7% and 28.5%, reflecting relatively weak business sector knowledge investment in comparison to those in the public and higher education sectors.

Level of business sector expenditure on R&D

The absolute level of business expenditure on R&D informs us about the efforts of the business sector to create new scientific and technological knowledge as well as to absorb knowledge from other sectors. The information brought together in Figure 1.3.2 shows a huge difference in business sector knowledge creation and absorption between the EU and the US. In 2000, the EU, with 91bn PPS, was still spending far less on business sector R&D than the US, with PPS 170bn, but more than Japan with PPS 60bn. In addition to this, the evolution of BERD between 1991 and 2000 shows that the EU is not catching up with the US, which not only started at a higher level but also increased its business sector R&D expenditure much faster than the EU.





Business sector R&D in high, medium and low-tech industries

The development of the knowledge-based economy is expected to result in a larger share of high-tech industries in the business sector. Scientific and technological knowledge production and absorption will be especially significant in the high-tech industry, but will also become increasingly important for medium-tech and even low-tech industries. The distribution of business R&D expenditure among different types of industry shows whether scientific and technological knowledge is being produced and used in the high-tech, medium to high-tech or medium to low-tech and low-tech industries.

Figure 1.3.3 shows that the share of high-tech industries in business sector knowledge investment is noticeably higher in the US with 45.8% than in EU-15 (not including EL, L, A, P) with 41.5%, while Japan ranks even lower at 39.3%. However, the EU share of medium to high-tech industries (47.5%) exceeds that of the US (44.7%). The share of medium to low-tech and low-tech industries is slightly higher in Europe (11.0%) than in the US (9.4%) while its share in Japan is considerably higher (14.1%).

The high-tech industry's share of manufacturing BERD of some Member States such as Ireland (62.1%) and Finland (64.0%) substantially exceeds that of the US. While in Germany the shares of high-tech and the low to medium-tech industry are relatively low, the medium to high-tech sector's share of BERD investment (64.3%) is very significant, and far above the EU average (47.5%) as well as that of the US (44.7%). The share of medium to low-tech and low-tech industry is the highest in Spain, followed by Ireland.



Benchmarking Indicator

Industry financed R&D as percentage of industrial output

The objective of business-financed research activities is to increase firms' future profitability and competitiveness. The relative efforts of business sector financing of R&D activities and its dynamics are important indicators for the profit-oriented creation of new scientific and technological knowledge and for efforts in absorbing existing knowledge from other sources – from the government sector, higher education and from abroad.

As shown in Figure 1.3.4, the US business sector allocates considerably more to R&D than the business sector of the EU – 2.09% of industrial output compared to the European rate of 1.49%.

However, Sweden and Finland are way ahead followed by Japan and Germany. In all four countries the effort is higher than in the US. Some other Member states – Denmark, Belgium and France rank above the EU average while all others stay below.

The growth of business sector financed R&D indicates the efforts being invested in future competitiveness. As can be seen in Figure 1.3.5, in the late 1990s business R&D investments in the US grew faster (8.40%) than those in the EU (4.81%). Finland is a special case, as both the level and the growth of industry financed R&D are very strong. Usually, countries starting at a low level of effort, such as Ireland, Portugal, Greece and Spain, experience stronger growth. However, the Netherlands, Sweden, Belgium and Germany also show stronger growth than the EU average.





Internationalisation of R&D activities

The internationalisation of business sector R&D activities is reflected in the increased role of foreign investment in knowledge creation, and also offers the potential for international knowledge spill-overs. A first indicator of the extent of any foreign contribution to domestic investment in knowledge is the share of foreign R&D expenditure in a country.

It is obvious that the internationalisation of industrial R&D activities varies considerably across countries (cf. Figure 1.3.6). In particular, its importance is high in Ireland – 64.8% in 1997– reflecting the country's overall development strategy based on the attraction of foreign direct investment (FDI). Ireland has followed the example of the UK, which has traditionally attracted significant amounts of FDI. The low share of foreign R&D activities in Japanese manufacturing R&D implies that the country's innovation system is less open to outside involvement, and as such is less exposed to international knowledge spill-overs via FDI. It should be noted that restricted availability of data limits the analysis of the degree of internationalisation in R&D.

Figure 1.3.7 shows the spending by foreign affiliates in the manufacturing industry of various OECD countries. Between 1991 and 1998, R&D expenditure of these affiliates rose from \$22.5bn to \$36.1bn. The US continues to attract the largest share of foreign R&D investment (55.5% of the OECD total, compared to 45.3% in 1991).





Benchmarking indicator

SME share of publicly funded R&D executed by the business sector

This indicator sheds light on the relative importance of public support for SMEs' scientific and technological knowledge production and absorption. Public funding of R&D gives governments an instrument for directing resources to chosen research priorities as well as to certain types of firms. SMEs appear to provide a fertile breeding ground for new ideas and innovative ways of doing business. However, they can be hampered by lack of resources and by the relatively high information and administrative costs of participating in research programmes.

Figure 1.3.8 reveals that the share of SMEs in publicly funded R&D executed by the business sector is considerably higher in the EU (15.1%) than in the US (9%) and Japan (8.8%) which are the countries with the lowest shares. In the EU, small countries tend to show a high share, with Greece leading with 70.6%. The lowest shares within the EU Member States are to be found in the larger countries – Germany, the UK and France. The latter manages only 9.0%.

Figure 1.3.9 shows that publicly funded R&D executed in the SME sector is growing considerably faster in the US (12.2%) than in the EU (3.5%) and Japan (3.2%). By contrast, the small countries – Denmark, Portugal, Finland and Ireland – and also Italy show stronger growth than the EU average. All other Member states have negative growth rates.





1.4 Venture Capital Investment

Venture capital financing of seed, start-up and expansion phases of a firm's life cycle creates and expands new business activities. The venture capital industry provides equity capital for high risk, promising new companies, particularly to high-tech and knowledge intensive start-ups. Yet venture capital companies provide not only equity capital, but also managerial skills that are critical for the success of firms in the early stages.

In comparison with the US, European venture capital financing of seed, start-up and expansion phases of new business activities has been lagging behind dramatically in the late 1990s and the early 2000s, as shown in Figure 1.4.1. This reflects a far weaker thrust of venture capital financing in the creation and expansion of new business activities. Both in the EU and in the US, VC investment has accelerated since 1998 but in the US the growth rate was dramatic between 1998 and 2000.

However, Table 1.4.1 shows that the present crisis of the new economy has broken the trend abruptly with VC investment declining by 62% in the US and by 37.9% in the EU.

In the US the VC industry traditionally plays a more prominent role than in the EU where other sources and forms of financing might be relatively more important. In 2001, the crisis of the new economy is clearly recognised in the abrupt decline of venture capital financing in seed, start-up and expansion phases of new businesses. It is obvious that the US VC industry has reacted much more strongly to the crisis.



Countries	Venture Capital Investment mio euro 2000 Relative change % 2000-2001					01		
Countries	Seed	Start-up	Expansion	Total	Seed	Start-up	Expansion	Total
Belgium	80	185	261	526	-65.7	-61.3	-23.0	-42.9
Denmark	1	33	126	160	4 554.3	181.6	16.7	86.6
Germany (1)	392	1 261	2 143	3 795	-56.1	-22.1	-27.4	-28.6
Greece	-	9	110	120	-	232.7	-45.7	-23.5
Spain	3	197	569	769	61.4	-46.1	34.2	13.7
France	70	1 085	1 884	3 039	-57.2	-51.0	-61.8	-57.8
Irland	1	110	100	212	-26.4	-66.8	-13.9	-41.5
Italy	132	408	966	1 506	-83.7	-33.8	-22.9	-31.2
Netherlands	0	372	1045	1 418	174.6	-50.9	-28.7	-34.5
Austria	12	49	88	149	-34.4	-30.2	-2.9	-14.3
Portugal	-	31	104	135	-	-48.0	-45.1	-45.8
Finland	23	113	113	248	10.2	2.4	-35.8	-14.2
Sweden	28	199	334	562	-17.0	7.8	98.8	60.7
United Kingdom	64	1 548	4 487	6 099	94.3	-48.1	-61.3	-56.3
EU-15 (2)	807	5 598	12 330	18 735	-38.0	-37.7	-38.1	-37.9
US (3)	3 357ª	28 019 ^b	66 037	97 412	-72.5	-63.1	-61.1	-62.0
Japan (4)	:	5 096	1 224	6 321	:	0.7	-4.0	-0.2

Table 1.4.1 : Venture Capital Investment

Source: DG Research

Key Figures 2002

Data: EVCA 1996-2002, NVCA 2002, NISTEP

Notes: 1) D: expansion includes € 102.6m Bridge and € 75.6m Turnaround

2) EU does not include L 3) US: a) seed corresponds to start-up/seed b) start-up corresponds to early stage 4) JP: seed is included in start-up. The definition of venture capital differs between the EU-15, USA and Japan.

Benchmarking Indicator

Volume of venture capital investment in early stages (seed and start-up)

Venture capital financing of the seed and start-up phases of new firms which, even if quantitatively only a small fraction of GDP, creates new business activities, and plays therefore a critical role in economic progression. In particular, financing of new businesses in the high-tech and knowledge intensive sectors creates additional business sector R&D and new R&D performers and also commercialises scientific research results from the public and private sector.

The share of venture capital in seed and start-up phases per thousand GDP is, as can be seen from Figure 1.4.2, quantitatively very low. However, it has immense qualitative importance in the creation of new innovative business activities. VC financing plays a more prominent role in the US (1.0 per thousand GDP) while the EU lags far behind with 0.45 per thousand GDP. This reflects of course also the use of alternative instruments of financing. At around 1.0 per thousand GDP, Finland and Sweden rely more strongly on VC financing, while in Portugal, Spain and Austria its role is much more limited (between 0.1 and 0.2 per thousand GDP).

As Figure 1.4.3 shows, the growth of venture capital investment in seed and start-up phases in the late 1990s was also stronger in the US (19.1%) than in the EU (48.2%). This low US value, however, results from the very strong reaction to the present crisis in new economy. Among the Member States, Austria shows a particularly strong rate of growth (127.8%) followed by Denmark, Sweden and Ireland with growth rates of over 70%. By contrast, in the Netherlands and Portugal VC financing is growing relatively slowly (respectively 13.7% and 21%).





Perspectives

In order to meet the objective set at the Lisbon Summit in March 2000 to make the EU the most competitive and dynamic knowledge-based economy in the world by 2010, the EU has a major challenge ahead. While both the private and the public sectors need to invest more in R&D, these investments should be made in an effective way, with special focus on mechanisms to stimulate efficiency throughout the whole R&D system. During the past few years, growth in R&D financing has been insufficient, but more progress has been made in the way the funds are allocated. For instance, public funds are increasingly awarded on a competitive basis, often through intermediary public funding organisations and via public-private co-financing programmes.

Aiming at achieving the 3% objective by the year 2010, much attention is being paid to enhancing private sector efforts in research. In particular, as Europe lags significantly behind the US in venture capital financing, additional efforts have been made to support venture capital financing in seed, start-up and expansion phases of new business activities; these are expected to generate new business sector R&D activities and R&D performers. Also, public sector R&D should be strengthened with new resources for research along with increases in public funding for private sector R&D.

Because of the potential systemic failures of national innovation systems (mismatches, inefficiencies, lack of collaboration), an increase in funding is not enough on its own. Other factors affecting the volume of R&D and the level of R&D intensity should be taken into account as well. These include, for example: the regulatory environment for R&D; the stock of human resources in research; and the capacity of the innovation system to absorb any increases in funding; and the capability of R&D financiers and performers to co-operate and use funding in a productive way.

The role of governments is increasingly seen to be to act as a facilitator, creating a favourable regulatory framework and environment for the various players in the innovation system to conduct research and to collaborate with each other. The key issue is stimulating public-private partnerships in both financing and in research and development. In this regard, Community funding through Framework Programmes has opened up new avenues for more intensive collaboration and participation in multi-annual pre-competitive R&D bringing together partners from various countries and from different sectors of the economy. This trend is enhanced by the implementation of the Sixth Framework Programme with the introduction of new instruments, and by the favourable development of Community funding for co-operative R&D activities.

Part 2: Human Resources in S&T

Human resources are an important element of the knowledgebased economy. The role of human resources in economic processes is being re-defined – from the creator of knowledge in S&T processes to the applicant of knowledge within broader the economy. Human resources in S&T are measured by the numbers of people in S&T related occupations, and the level of formal educational qualifications in the labour force.

This section analyses key indicators on human resources in S&T, including numbers of researchers, graduates in S&T (especially new PhDs), investment in tertiary education, international mobility of students and researchers and women in S&T.

Key findings

- In the EU Member States, the proportion of researchers in the labour force is low compared to the US and Japan; only Finland and Sweden are at the same high level.
- The EU produces more S&T graduates than the US or Japan, both in absolute terms and in relation to population size.
- EU Member States invest less of their national resources in tertiary education than the US, but more than Japan.
- The main foreign destinations of EU students are the US and Canada. The main regions of origin of foreign researchers in the EU are other European countries, Asia and Oceania.
- In the EU, women are less well represented than men in S&T and the situation is even worse among researchers.

2.1 Researchers

Traditionally, researchers⁴ are responsible for knowledge production and exploitation in the R&D process. In the knowledge-based economy, other knowledge workers in management, production and services are of growing importance. But still, researchers are the most relevant group for measuring human resources in S&T.

National performances

In 1999, 920 000 researchers were employed in the EU, (cf. Table 2.1.1). This is nearly 300 000 less than in the US, but about 260 000 more than in Japan. Germany, the UK and France have the most researchers, accounting for two thirds of the EU total.

Huge differences can be seen regarding the sectors. On average in the EU, the higher education sector employs about one third of researchers, while only one half are employed by the private sector. In Japan and in the US the latter's share is much higher. But Member States vary greatly in this respect, from Ireland, and Austria at 64% to Portugal at 13%.

	Total number	Business Enterprise	Governmental	Higher Education
Belgium	30 219	54.5	4.0	40.4
Denmark	18 438	46.5	21.2	31.0
Germany	255 260	58.8	15.0	26.1
Greece	14 828	15.6	13.5	70.6
Spain	61 568	24.7	19.4	55.0
France	160 424	47.0	15.7	35.4
Ireland	8 217	64.4	3.7	32.0
Italy	64 886	40.4	21.1	38.5
Netherlands	40 623	47.7	19.8	31.4
Austria	20 222	64.4	4.8	30.7
Portugal	15 752	12.7	21.9	52.3
Finland	25 398	41.6	16.2	40.9
Sweden	39 921	57.2	6.1	36.6
UK	164 040	56.2	9.1	30.3
EU-15 (2)	919 796	50.0	14.2	34.3
US	1 219 407	83.3	3.8	11.2
Japan	658 910	65.8	4.7	27.1

Table 2.1.1. Total number of researchers (1) and in % by sector, 1999.

Source: DG Research

Key Figures 2002

Data: Eurostat, Member States, OECD

Notes: (1) Researchers in full-time equivalents (FTE).

(2) EU average does not include L.

^{(&}lt;sup>4</sup>) Researchers (research scientists and engineers, RSEs) include the occupational groups ISCO-2 (Professional Occupations) and ISCO-1237 (Research and Development Department Managers). See the "Frascati Manual" (OECD 1993).
Number of researchers per thousand labour force

This indicator reflects the share of scientific work in overall employment. It is therefore an indicator that is frequently used to show the knowledge base of an economy in terms of involvement of human resources in knowledge production in a classical sense.

Finland leads with 13 researchers per thousand labour force, followed by Japan and Sweden, as seen in Figure 2.1.1. At roughly 8 per thousand, the US also has a high proportion. Most European Member States have shares of between 4.6 and 7 per thousand in the labour force, while the average is at 5.4.

The southern European countries of Portugal, Greece and Italy are far behind, with low shares of around 3 researchers per thousand in the labour force.

How did this change in the 1990s? Greece, Finland, Ireland and Spain have growth rates greater than 10%, followed by Portugal and Belgium – see Figure 2.1.2. These countries have higher growth rates than the US with 6.2%. It is especially interesting that Finland, already the best performer, is still increasing considerably.

The EU average growth rate is about 3% and is thus higher than that of the four largest EU Member States and Japan. It should be noted that Italy suffered an annual decrease of 0.6%.





2.2 S&T graduates and PhD recipients

The numbers of graduates⁵ in S&T fields of study⁶ reflect two features of the role of human resources within the knowledge-based economy: first the output of the higher education system, and second the supply of human resources with higher qualifications.

National performances

Regarding the numbers of S&T graduates, the EU is far ahead of the US and Japan, as shown in Table 2.2.1. In the EU-15 Member States in 1998, a total of two million students earned their tertiary degrees across all disciplines, including 523 000 in science and engineering (S&E). The highest numbers of graduates in S&E, and indeed in all disciplines, are "produced" in France, the UK and Germany; these countries account for about two thirds of all EU graduates and of S&T graduates.

The profiles of the EU Member States vary. S&E is relatively strong in Ireland, France and Germany. Within S&E, science is strong in Ireland and the UK; engineering dominates in all other Member States. Compared to the S&E disciplines, health and food sciences are more important in Denmark, Belgium and the Netherlands. Social sciences are above average in Luxembourg, Austria, and Spain. Compared to the EU, the dominance of engineering in Japan is remarkable, as well as the social sciences in the US.

Table 2.2.1. Graduates b	y field of study	1998 (1)
--------------------------	------------------	----------

	Science	Engineering	Science & Engineering (S&E)	Health & Food	Soc/Hum/ Educ.	All fields of study
Belgium (2)	2 216	5 105	7 321	9 002	20 639	37 169
Denmark	2 266	3 773	6 039	9 445	14 563	31 048
Germany	31 925	59 880	91 805	91 686	128 485	322 487
Spain	22 241	30 530	52 771	34 576	142 796	240 881
France	66 691	82 407	149 098	37 069	288 365	497 188
Ireland	7 579	5 439	13 018	3 982	22 1 34	40 719
Italy	15 785	27 816	43 601	30 488	104 918	179 431
Luxembourg	24	54	78	32	261	371
Netherlands	4 392	9 211	13 603	17 595	46 544	80 111
Austria	2 348	2 454	4 802	2 786	13 023	20 987
Finland	2 452	7 506	9 958	9 647	15 729	38 959
Sweden	3 027	6 018	9 045	8 058	17 598	34 822
UK	64 850	57 092	121 942	81 766	253 421	465 895
EU-15 (3)	225 796	297 285	523 081	336 132	1 068 476	1 990 068
US	169 311	179 238	348 549	322 758	1 301 199	2 066 595
Japan	25 021	209 808	234 829	128 157	541 431	1 107 332

Source: DG-Research

Key Figures 2002

Data: Eurostat, Member States, OECD

Notes: (1) Graduates are composed by ISCED 1997, levels 5 and 6.

(2) Flemish Community only.

(3) EU totals do not include EL and P.

These data give the impression that the production of graduates, especially in the S&E fields of study is sufficient in the EU Member States. However, it should be noted that what is not shown in the table is that the number of S&E graduates in the EU is declining.

One significant sub-section of S&T graduates, recipients of PhDs, is now presented in further detail in the following benchmarking indicator.

⁽⁵⁾ Graduates are defined by the levels of education classified in ISCED 1997. In the following analyses, graduates include all tertiary degrees (ISCED 5a and 5b) and PhDs (ISCED 6).

^(*) The Canberra Manual (OECD 1994) defines S&T relevant fields of study as follows: It includes the natural sciences and engineering (which can be understood as the core S&T fields – here labelled S&E) also the medical sciences, agriculture (here labelled health and food sciences), the social sciences, arts and humanities and education (Soc/Hum/Educ).

New PhDs per thousand population aged 25 to 34

This indicator shows the number of new doctorates for the given year per thousand of the population aged between 25 and 34. The PhD level is chosen so that the analysis focuses on those people who are following the traditional S&T career path. A PhD is often mandatory for further scientific employment in the higher education sector. In addition, for research-related careers in government and the business sector, a PhD is helpful for reaching posts with broad scientific and management responsibilities.⁷

In 2000, as a proportion of the younger population the highest number of new PhDs were "produced" in Sweden (1.2) and Finland (1.1), followed at some distance by Germany, France and the UK (between 0.8 and 0.7) – see Figure 2.2.1. With an average of 0.56, EU countries are slightly ahead of the US (0.48) and far head of Japan (0.24). Greece and Italy produce even lower numbers – less than 0.2.

Figure 2.2.2 shows that the largest increase from 1999 to 2000, was in Portugal with 14%, followed by Finland and Greece. On average in the EU, numbers of PhDs grew by 1.5% between 1999 and 2000, which is higher than in Japan (0.7%) and the US (0.1%). Ireland and especially the Netherlands experienced a decrease of 2.8 and 4.8% respectively.





^{(&}lt;sup>7</sup>) The Frascati manual (OECD 1993) relates the researchers to the university degree levels of education, the technicians on lower, mostly secondary education levels. But the borders are ill defined.

2.3 Investment in tertiary education

In Figure 2.3.1, huge differences between the EU and the US can be observed. EU Member States are spending between 1.7% (Finland and Sweden) and 0.8% (Italy) of their GDP on tertiary education while the US is spending more than 2% of its GDP. The EU average is far behind at about 1.1%, which in turn is marginally higher than the expenditure in Japan (1%).



These results are a combination of the EU's relatively low expenditure on total education (both as percentage of GDP and per capita), the low share of tertiary education in the overall education expenditure, and the small share of private expenditure on tertiary education in the EU average – see Table 2.3.1. This lower private involvement is one of the main differences between Europe, Japan and the US. However, the share of private expenditure on tertiary education has been increasing significantly during the 1990s.

Table 2.3.1. Investment in education: data for 1998.

	Total expenditure on educational institutions, 1998 (% of GDP)	Total expenditure on educational institutions, 1998 (€ per capita)	Share of expenditure at tertiary level, 1998 (in % of total educational expenditure)	Share of private expenditure, tertiary education, 1998 (% of total education expenditure)	Index of change between 1995 and 1998 of educational expenditure at tertiary level (PPS 1995, 1995=100)	Share of private expenditure, primary + secondary education, 1998 (% of total education expenditure)
Belgium	5.0	1 105	18.3	:	:	:
Denmark	7.2	2 016	21.4	2.8	473	2.1
Germany	5.6	1 325	18.8	7.9	107	24.1
Greece	4.8	446	25.4	:	:	
Spain	5.3	669	20.9	27.9	130	10.8
France	6.2	1 352	18.1	14.5	97	7.3
Ireland	4.7	838	29.2	27.4	121	3.1
Italy	5.0	766	16.8	25.3	170	1
Netherlands	4.6	1 040	25.6	12.5	113	5.7
Austria	6.4	1 519	22.9	1.1	46	5.2
Portugal	5.7	528	18.5	1./	2/3	0.1
Finland	5.7	1 278	29.1	<u>.</u>	:	
Sweden	6.8	1 501	24.6	10./	:	0.2
UK	4.9	/88	22.6	37.3	105	
EU-15 (1)	5.5	1 038	20.0	13.8	164	6
05	6.4	1 493	35.6	53.2	:	9.2
Japan	4./	15/3	21./	58.3		8.3

Source: DG-Research

Data: Eurostat, Member States, OECD

Notes: (1) EU average does not include L.

Key Figures 2002

2.4 International Mobility

Indicators on international mobility show the level of movement of human resources between countries and therefore the extent to which the research system is open and attractive for people from abroad. They also indicate the ability to attract new knowledge.

Foreign students by world regions

The most complete data on mobility of students between the world regions are provided by the OECD. Figure 2.4.1 gives an overview of the main flows of students between the world regions.





Foreign S&T employees in the EU by regions of origin

The Community Labour Force Survey (CLFS) provides data on the labour force broken down by the international standard classification on occupations (ISCO) and nationality. In Figure 2.4.2, the world regions of origin of people working in the EU as professionals (ISCO-2) are analysed.

Most foreign S&T employees in the EU are from other EU Member States – around 2% of the workforce. The rest of Europe, Asia and Oceania and the Americas follow, supplying decreasing numbers. The largest shares of foreign S&T employees are in Luxembourg and Ireland, followed by Belgium, Austria, Germany and the UK. It is worth noting the relatively large shares of other Europeans in Austria and Germany, Asians in the UK and Africans in Portugal, France and Belgium.

2.5 Women in S&T

The participation of women in the production of knowledge is an important indicator of the extent to which the full potential of human resources is being used in a society. By detecting differences in participation, it is possible to identify starting points for increasing the human resources involved in S&T.

Graduates by gender and discipline

In 1998, as many women as men received a degree. But differences occurred between the disciplines, as Figure 2.5.1 illustrates. While

more men are graduating in engineering, mathematics and computing, more women are receiving degrees in educational sciences, arts and humanities. Only the natural and the social sciences are nearly balanced.



Female researchers

The differences in the numbers of men and women employed as researchers are also high. In the EU Member States analysed in Figure 2.5.2, the share of women varies between 43% in Portugal, 41% in Greece and 19% in Austria. In the other countries, between a quarter and one third (Spain) of researchers are women.

These data lead to the conclusion that women represent an enormous potential for human resources in S&T. As S&E are the classic areas of study that are important for the knowledge-based economy, the under-representation of women in these fields is an important place to start in order to unlock more human resources for S&T. Another factor is the attractiveness for women of careers in S&T, which may contribute to achieving the knowledge-based economy faster.



Perspectives

The indicators discussed in this section represent only a handful of the indicators on human resources in S&T. Nevertheless, they provide interesting information on the performance of the EU and its Member States in connection with the knowledge-based economy. They support major conclusions and aims of the European Research Area such as:

- The relatively low number of researchers in the EU may become a serious restriction for European R&D in the future. Businesses could especially be encouraged to employ researchers. Positive examples within the EU, like Sweden and Finland, should be emulated.
- The high quality of S&T tertiary education in the EU has to be maintained. In this way, a sufficient output of high quality students, especially in science and engineering, can be ensured.
- Investment in tertiary education could be increased. Compared to the US and Japan, the private sector in the EU has huge potential to do so.
- In order to meet short-term demands and to increase the quality and breadth of domestic knowledge production, it makes sense to attract researchers and students from abroad. The provision of favourable conditions within the EU, like improvements to research facilities, are important steps towards attracting the "best brains", which also includes the return of EU nationals from abroad.
- In order to increase the human resources for S&T, more women need to be recruited to S&T related professions. Furthermore, in order to make S&T attractive for women and to exploit their full potential, it has to be ensured that they face equal opportunities to men in a career in S&T. Existing bottlenecks for women should be examined and resolved.

Part 3: Comparing Performance in Science, Technology and Innovation

As Europe is striving to become the most dynamic knowledge-based economy, the production and diffusion of knowledge are key concepts. Scientists, researchers, and engineers are among those highly qualified people involved in creating knowledge. The codification of this knowledge is achieved through publications and patent applications. Publications are the most often used channel to disseminate knowledge and to make it available to third parties for further usage. The information contained in patent applications protects an invention. As this is disclosed after a patent is granted, this codified knowledge serves as restriction.

Performance in publishing and patenting are used as proxy indicators of scientific and technological capacities. However, when it comes to the commercialisation of knowledge, another indicator is more suitable for revealing the knowledge embedded in economic activity: trade in high-tech products.

This section analyses the following key performance indicators:

- Scientific performance indicators (measured by the number of scientific publications and citations),
- Technological performance indicators (such as numbers of patents at the European Patent Office (EPO), the United States patent and Trademark Office (USPTO),
- Innovation performance indicators, which is performance in commercialising technology as measured by the technology balance of payments and market shares in high-tech trade.

Key findings

- In terms of scientific performance, the EU as a whole is doing well. With respect to highly cited publications, some EU countries show outstanding world shares.
- Technological performance expressed in the number of patents is growing, while the share of patents being made by EU countries is decreasing. However, Sweden and Germany still show high numbers in the European as well as US patent offices.
- Innovation performances measured by the technology balance of payments and high-tech trade on the world market gives a rather heterogeneous picture of the EU Member States in terms of numbers of patents and growth rates.
- The aim to be innovative and competitive means that pressure to commercialise scientific and technological knowledge is growing day by day. However, this also brings with it the risk that R&D funding might be focused only on product related research.

3.1 Scientific Performance

Scientific performance in terms of the output of research can be measured at different levels, such as by individual researcher, research unit, institutions such as universities and research institutes, country, or world region. While the performance of a research unit or institute is important for policy-makers at a country level, the comparison made here is between countries.

Key Figures 2002

Specialisation profiles matter

Publication numbers tell only one side of the story. In order to be able to analyse performance, data such as the number of researchers in a country or the size of the population are variables that enable comparisons between countries. It can be argued that counting and comparing publication numbers in different countries needs further quantitative and qualitative information than is currently available for a thorough analysis. While several scientific disciplines, such as engineering, biology, mathematics, can be found almost everywhere, many countries display distinctive specialisation patterns, as can be seen from Table 3.1.1. Such specialisation can depend to a certain extent on a country's technological profile.

Such profiles can have an impact on a country's scientific output. In two countries with a comparable population size, the first might be specialised in the life sciences while the second may focus on engineering. Most probably the number of publications from the first will be more than double those of the second simply because in the life sciences publishing is a very core business of scientists, while engineers tend to publish less but might opt for patents.

From Figure 3.1.1 one can see clearly that Sweden, Finland, Denmark, Belgium, and to a certain degree Ireland and the UK are specialised in the life sciences, while Germany, Portugal, and Greece are more specialised in engineering. Other countries like France and the Netherlands display a more balanced profile.

		B	DK	D	EL	E	F	IRL	NL	A	Р	FIN	S	UK
Life sciences	Basic life sciences													
	Biological sciences													
	Biomedical sciences													
	Clinical medicine													
	Dentistry													
	Food science & agriculture													
	Health sciences													
	Pharmacology													
Earth & Environmental	Earth sciences													
sciences	Environmental sciences													
Computer sciences	Computer science													
Mathematics	Mathematics													
& Statistics	Statistical analysis & probability													
Chemistry	Chemistry													
Physics &	Astronomy & Astrophysics													
Astronomy	Physics													
	Aerospace engineering													
	Chemical engineering													
	Civil engineering													
	Electrical engineering													
Engineering	Fuels & energy													
	Geological engineering													
	Instruments & instrumentation													
	Materials science													
	Mechanical engineering													
	Other engineering sciences													

Figure 3.1.1. Relative specialisation profile by field and EU-15 member country

Source: DG Research

Data: ISI, CWTS (treatments), DG Research (calculations)

Notes: (1) Publication period: 1996-1999

(2) Blue fields indicate relative specialisation.

Publication trends – comparing world regions

The number of publications has been growing steadily in recent decades. During the second half of the 1990s, declining growth rates can be calculated for the US, while the EU-15 showed a slight-ly positive trend and Japan was able to achieve the highest growth rates. At the beginning of the new decade, quite a significant increase is apparent for all three regions. However, annual changes may not only reflect real research activities and capabilities, but also changes in the publications databases, changing publication habits and strategies, and changing propensities of countries to pursue international scientific co-operation. It is impossible to disentangle these often interrelated factors at the macro level in a satisfactory and systemic way.

What can be stated in detail? First, the overall trend of increasing publication numbers was sustained over the whole period (cf. Figure 3.1.2). In terms of absolute numbers, the EU and the US are the prime producers. However, in terms of growth rates, Japan had an average annual growth rate of 9% between 1995 and 1997, whereas the EU achieved 2.5% and the US recorded a decrease of -1.4%. This did not continue in the latter half of the 1990s: the period 1995-99 saw a comparably moderate rate of growth in the number of Japanese publications (4.5%), the EU-15 continued growing steadily (3.9%) while the US ended its negative trend but achieved 0% growth.

Taking the whole period of 1995-2001, Japan achieved the highest growth rate (6.3%), followed by the EU-15 (5.5%), while a moderate increase for the US (3%) can be calculated.



Highly cited publications at the field level

Is it possible to measure the quality of different countries' performances in different disciplines? Strictly speaking, there is no indicator for quality performance using publication data. However, citations are used as a proxy for influence, importance, and thus indirectly also quality. In Table 3.1.1, ratios for the highly cited papers by broad field are shown.

While the US scores high numbers in many fields, many of these can be linked to its size and relative weight in the underlying database. Denmark, Ireland, the Netherlands, the UK, and Belgium are the EU countries with high ratios in some of the fields. Language seems to be an important factor for highly cited papers. It does not come as a surprise that the US and the UK score above 1 in almost all fields. Smaller non-English speaking countries such as Denmark, the Netherlands, Belgium and Sweden which have a high propensity to publish in international journals do very well in a large number of fields.

Table 3.1.1. Countries by highly cited papers by broad field (1)

	В	DK	D	EL	E	F	IRL	Ι	NL	A	P	FIN	S	UK	US	JP
Basic Life Science	0.99	0.79	0.95	0.41	0.42	0.79	0.95	0.55	1.02	0.81	0.47	0.92	0.78	1.19	1.46	0.57
Biomedical Science & Pharmacology	0.82	0.66	0.81	0.45	0.38	0.74	1.11	0.65	0.81	0.83	0.51	0.78	0.82	1.10	1.30	0.43
Clinical Medecin & Health Science	1.22	1.11	0.82	0.53	0.58	0.88	1.32	0.81	1.18	0.82	0.98	1.23	1.16	1.14	1.40	0.50
Biological Science	0.74	0.98	0.89	0.36	0.42	0.76	1.14	0.40	1.24	0.80	0.49	0.64	1.10	1.34	1.13	0.50
Agriculture & Food Science	0.93	1.15	0.70	0.43	0.48	0.88	1.25	0.60	1.20	0.60	0.74	0.98	1.21	1.15	1.02	0.28
Earth & Environmental Science	0.84	1.00	1.05	0.46	0.32	0.84	0.95	0.45	1.18	0.44	0.49	0.69	0.86	1.12	1.30	0.50
Chemistry	1.09	1.63	1.09	0.75	0.67	0.90	0.93	0.83	1.72	0.93	0.60	0.95	1.44	1.31	1.94	0.73
Engineering	1.16	1.50	0.94	0.40	0.53	0.83	0.81	0.64	1.24	0.71	0.54	0.78	0.96	0.82	1.38	0.60
Computer Science	1.35	1.22	0.97	0.52	0.44	0.81	:	0.69	0.89	1.18	0.43	1.07	0.58	0.84	1.41	0.45
Mathematics & Statistics	0.83	1.40	0.96	0.46	0.51	1.16	0.71	0.83	0.94	0.79	0.85	0.69	0.78	1.18	1.43	0.75
Physics & Astronomy	0.91	1.50	1.25	0.59	0.78	1.04	0.88	0.85	1.38	1.04	0.42	0.87	1.09	1.16	1.79	0.80

DG-Research Source:

Key Figures 2002

ISI, CWTS (treatments) Data:

Notes: (1) The index is calculated as the ratio of the number of actual papers divided by the expected papers in the top 5% of most cited papers. Publication years 1996, 1997, 1998; citation years 1996-1999, 1997-2000, 1998-2001. Red signals the highest, blue the lowest scores. Calculation not possible for L and IRL (Computer Sciences) due to too low publication numbers.

Number of scientific publications and number of highly cited papers per capita

The indicator 'scientific publications' was chosen as it reflects the research capacity and knowledge pool of a country. The database is very much dominated by internationally authored publications written in English.

Changes in methodology, slight changes of results

Concerning the 'number of publications', there is a change in retrieving the underlying data from the databases in this Benchmarking update. This change results in the retrieval of more publications and gives higher publication output numbers (for full data see Annex III).

In terms of the number of publications per capita, the US, with 926 per million, scores better than the EU (818) and Japan (648). Five EU countries do better than the US. An explanation for the leading EU countries is that they are research intensive, mediumsized countries with a strong urge to publish internationally. France and Germany, on the other hand, are only in middle ranking positions, as they have large internal markets for publications in French and German.

Figure 3.1.4 shows the growth rates since the mid-1990s. This conceals various significant developments, one of the most important being the recent increase in the US growth rate. This signals that after a zero growth period in the mid 1990s, the US was able to increase output at the very end of the 1990s. The highest average growth rate has been maintained by Japan (6.4%), followed by the EU-15 (4.1%) and the US (3.4%).





Highly cited papers

High citation rates are used as a proxy of the importance of research. Only a small fraction of the overall scientific output is highly cited. However, the number of papers and the analysis of the particular fields in which these papers occur, give some important information to science policy-makers, and signal important research to scientific communities worldwide.

For Key Figures 2002 the length of the citation window and the retrieving method have been amended (cf. Annex II).

When it comes to highly cited papers, all EU countries lag behind the US. However, there are several countries with shares above the world average. The Netherlands, UK, Denmark, Ireland, Sweden and Belgium do far better than the world average (1.0), while Italy, Austria, Spain, Portugal and Greece achieve only below average shares. The absolute numbers reflect the size of the publishing country. It should be noted that the calculations are based on a full counting method. The number of highly cited papers is not additive but international co-publications are counted fully for two or more countries. It would be interesting to estimate the percentage of European involvement in highly cited US publications and vice versa.





3.2 Technological Performance

Success in the knowledge-based economy requires a capacity to create technological knowledge that can be commercialised in the form of new and improved products and processes. This also relies on an ability to absorb and exploit knowledge created elsewhere.

Patents represent an important outcome of technologically oriented inventive activity. Since firms invest considerable amounts of time and money to obtain patent protection, the existence of a patent usually signals an expectation that such investments will bring a commercial return to compensate for this investment. Patents may also involve important transfers of knowledge, both in terms of the dissemination of information about the patented invention, and through the use of other scientific and technological knowledge to produce the patented technology. Two sets of indicators are analysed here as they cover two of the most important international markets where intellectual property rights are of strategic significance: number of European patents and number of US patents.

There tends to be a "home advantage" effect in patenting. For example, US inventors will have a dominance in the US patent system because it is their home market, while European inventors tend to be the dominant players in the European patent system.

National performances

Table 3.2.1 shows that EU countries were responsible for more than 42% of the EPO patents in 1999, while their share at the USPTO was below 17%. The US showed the opposite pattern. The shares of the EU and Japan at both the EPO and USPTO offices have fallen between 1992 and 1999, while the US shares have increased. Amongst the EU countries, Germany leads with 17.6% at the EPO, followed by France (6.3%) and the UK (5.6%). At the USPTO the rankings are the same, but the percentages are lower.

The most dynamic EU countries at the EPO are Portugal, Finland and Ireland, on different absolute levels. The most dynamic EU countries at the USPTO are Denmark, Greece and Belgium. The largest decreases of shares at the EPO were those for Japan and France, and for Luxembourg and Germany at the USPTO.

	Shares EPO	Growth EPO	Share USPTO	Growth USPTO
Germany	17.6	-1	6.3	-3.3
France	6.3	-3.3	2.7	-2.6
UK	5.6	-1.5	2.6	-1.8
Italy	3	-2.3	1.1	-2.9
Sweden	2.6	6.1	0.9	2
Netherlands	2.5	0.1	0.9	-2.3
Finland	1.2	7.8	0.4	2.7
Belgium	1.1	2.9	0.5	3.9
Austria	0.9	-2.2	0.3	-2.7
Denmark	0.8	5.2	0.3	6.8
Spain	0.6	5.6	0.2	2.9
Ireland	0.2	7.6	0.1	2.5
Greece	0.1	6	0	4.6
Luxembourg	0.1	1.2	0	-6.1
Portugal	0	10.8	0	1.4
EU-15	42.6	-0.7	16.4	-2.1
US	33.7	2.6	53.7	0.3
Japan	14.6	-4.3	20.1	-1.1

Table 3.2.1. Patents: Shares 1999 and average annual growth1992-1999 (%)

Source: DG Research

Data:

Key Figures 2002

EPO, USPTO; OST and Fraunhofer-ISI (treatments & calculations)

Number of patents at the EPO, per million population

When numbers of patents are expressed in relation to population size it can help to correct for the effect of differences in country size, and thus to gain some insight into the comparative national propensity to patent.

Figure 3.2.1 illustrates that in terms of patents applied for at the EPO, the EU countries are on a similar level to the US and Japan. However, there is much diversity between EU countries. Within a range of four to 300 patents per million population, Sweden, Finland and Germany are at the top, while Spain, Greece and Portugal are at the lower end.

From Figure 3.2.2 shows that the strongest growth in the late 1990s at the EPO was experienced by the more moderately performing countries – Ireland (26%) and Luxembourg (24%). Japan and the US, at 12.5% and 11.6% respectively, had slightly higher growth rates than the EU (10.8%). The other EU countries are in the range between 16.5% (Greece) and 9.3% (Austria); only France is far behind with 7.5%.

As can be seen in many other indicators, those countries that are performing less well in terms of absolute numbers tend to have higher growth rates and vice versa. In this figure, the Netherlands appears as the exception to the rule; it is an over-average performer in both absolute numbers and growth rates and therefore one candidate for taking the lead in the future.





Number of patents at the US Patent and Trademark Office, per million population

Patents granted at the US Patent and Trademark Office tell a similar story. Figure 3.2.3 shows how the US and Japan lead with 315 and 250 patents per million population, while the average for the EU is only 74 in 2000 (In 2001 these number are slightly higher.). Sweden is again the best performing EU country with about 200 patents per million population, followed by Germany, Luxembourg and Finland (all with around 130).

Again, the countries with higher absolute numbers are behind in terms of their growth rate, and vice versa. Thus, the EU has higher growth rates than the US and Japan, as shown in Figure 3.2.4. Among EU Member States, Portugal has, at 37.2%, by far the highest growth rate. France has the lowest growth, with only 7.1%.

Compared to the EPO patents, Denmark is performing better at the USPTO, especially with respect to growth. This is interesting, because already in Table 3.2.1 this trend was foreseen. Denmark seems to have developed a stronger orientation towards the US market in recent years.



Figure 3.2.4. US patents per million population: Average annual growth, 1995 to latest available year (1)



Patents by technology area

Table 3.2.2 shows different countries' shares of patents granted in the US by field of technology. These shares give an indication of the fields in which countries tend to specialise. The EU-15 has its highest shares in chemistry, processes and mechanics. The lowest shares are in electricity, consumer goods and instruments. The US profile is one of strength across all fields, but this is partly a result of a home market advantage. Japan's fields of strength are clearly electricity and instruments. Regarding the individual EU countries, Germany's specialisation in mechanics, chemistry and processes stands out. Chemistry (which includes pharmaceuticals) is also an area of active patenting in the US for several other Member States notably France, the UK, Belgium and Denmark. However, shares in electricity and instruments are generally rather low.

The shares of the EU countries at the USPTO are lower than at the EPO, where the profiles are similar but less sharply defined; typically, a country will have a more even distribution of patents across technology fields in its domestic patent system than it will in a foreign system. This can also be observed for the US.

	Electricity	Instruments	Chemistry	Processes	Mechanics	Consumer goods	All fields		
Germany	3.3	5.1	8.5	8.9	10.9	3.9	6.3		
France	2.0	2.2	4.1	2.6	3.0	2.0	2.7		
UK	1.9	2.5	4.2	2.5	2.3	2.1	2.6		
Italy	0.7	0.7	1.5	1.8	1.2	1.2	1.1		
Netherlands	0.9	0.9	1.2	1.1	0.4	0.5	0.9		
Sweden	0.7	0.9	0.8	1.1	1.2	0.7	0.9		
Belgium	0.2	0.6	1.2	0.7	0.3	0.2	0.5		
Finland	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.8	0.4	0.3	0.4		
Austria	0.1	0.2	0.5	0.6	0.4	0.5	0.3		
Denmark	0.1	0.2	0.8	0.4	0.3	0.2	0.3		
Spain	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.2		
EU-15	10.7	13.8	23.7	20.9	20.8	12.1	16.4		
US	50.9	55.4	52.7	53.7	50.7	66.6	53.7		
Japan	27.8	23.0	15.0	16.2	19.1	7.0	20.1		
Source: DG Research Key Figures 2002									

Table 3.2.2. Share of patents granted in the US
by technology field in %, 1999

(treatments & calculations)

Notes: IRL, EL, P and L omitted because of low patent numbers

3.3 Performance in commercialising technology

A key factor underlying a country's competitiveness in the modern global economy is its ability to exploit and commercialise new technologies. Two important indicators of this are trade in hightech products and the technology balance of payments.

National performances in high-tech trade

High-tech exports generally reflect a country's capacity to exploit the results of its R&D in global markets. Moreover, such products embody and disseminate many technologies that have an impact on both the economy and society. Figure 3.3.1 shows that the EU countries have a lower share of high-tech products in their exports and imports (around 20%) than the US and Japan. Only Ireland has a larger share in both categories. The Member States with the lowest shares have a higher share of imports than of exports, which could indicate that few such products are produced domestically. These figures can therefore reflect differences in industrial structure, and some countries can be strongly influenced by the presence of foreign multinationals in the economy.



World market share of exports of high-tech products

The world market share of exports of high-tech products indicates the strength of an economy in R&D intensive activities and in transforming scientific and technological knowledge into economic activity. A large share is usually associated with high levels of R&D investment, increased productivity, and highly paid jobs for skilled workers.

Figure 3.3.2 shows that EU countries together have the largest share of more than one third of global high-tech exports. However, any comparison of the EU as a whole with the US and Japan should exclude intra-EU trade; the effect of this is shown in the box.

When this is taken into account, the EU's exports to non-EU countries only account for a share of 17.6% of world exports, which is below the US, at 21.7%, but ahead of Japan (13.3%).

Among the EU Member States, Germany leads with 7.2%, followed by France, the UK, and the Netherlands. Ireland's share of 2.6% is high relative to its size, due to its expanding high-tech sector and the strong presence of foreign high-tech multinationals.

High-tech export growth rates in the late 1990s were negative for the EU (-1.4%), the US (-2.5%) and Japan (-6.2%), as seen in Figure 3.3.3 (excluding intra-EU trade – smaller box). The largest decreases were in Japan, Belgium and Italy. Luxembourg, Greece and Finland posted the strongest increases, followed closely by Ireland and the Netherlands.





Technology balance of payments receipts as a percentage of GDP

As well as high-tech products, countries can also buy and sell intangible knowledge. These transactions are measured by the technology balance of payments (TBP), which records a country's exports and imports of technical knowledge and services (including licences, know-how, trademarks, technical services, etc.). The indicator examined here relates to a country's exports of technology (TBP receipts), which reflects its competitiveness on the international market for knowledge. Such trade in technology is also an important vehicle for international technology transfer.

Figure 3.3.4 shows significant differences between the EU countries. Belgium has the highest percentage of TBP receipts in relation to GDP (2.5%), followed by Austria and the Netherlands (1.3%). Germany is also ahead of the US, while the UK and Portugal are above Japan. With between 0.03 and 0.19%, Spain, Finland, Italy and France have the lowest percentages.

Regarding growth rates – Figure 3.3.5 – the two countries with the lowest levels of TBP receipts, Spain and Finland, made the largest advances in the late 1990s; 38% and 29% respectively. The top-performing country Belgium is still on a remarkable growth path of 16% per year. The other EU countries, except Italy, are behind Japan, but in front of the US.







Partner countries of EU high-tech trade

Which are the EU's most important partner countries in high-tech trade? Table 3.3.1 shows that the highest share, around one-quarter of EU high-tech exports, go to the US, followed some way behind by Switzerland and Japan. Turkey and Canada are also in the top ten (with the largest growth rates between 1995 and 2000) as well as a number of fast-growing Asian countries including China.

Table 3.3.1. EU exports and imports of high-tech products: Top ten lists

	EU-15 expo	orts: target co	ountry		EU-15 imports: country of origin				
Rank	Country	Share of EU exports (2000) %	Average annual growth (1995-2000) %	Rank	Country	Share of EU imports (2000) %	Average annual growth (1995-2000) %		
1.	US	27.7	19.6	1.	US	35.6	18.1		
2.	Switzerland	7.3	15.2	2.	Japan	11.8	11.4		
3.	Japan	4.6	10.8	3.	China	6.2	36.4		
4.	China	3.4	15.9	4.	Taiwan	6.1	23.0		
5.	Turkey	2.8	27.0	5.	Switzerland	5.0	15.0		
6.	Singapore	2.8	16.4	6.	Singapore	4.6	13.9		
7.	HongKong	2.6	8.1	7.	Korea Rep	4.5	27.6		
8.	Canada	2.5	24.5	8.	Malaysia	3.7	16.5		
9.	Taiwan	2.3	22.2	9.	Canada	2.4	20.5		
10.	Korea Rep	2.1	17.9	10.	Philippines	2.0	42.7		

Source: DG Research Data: Eurostat, Comext Key Figures 2002

The most important country of origin of EU high-tech imports is the US with around one third, followed by Japan and China. Taiwan is in fourth position with 6.1%. China's large increase between 1995 and 2000 of 36.4% is remarkable; only the Philippines tops this with 42.7%.

Perspectives

The indicators given in this chapter on scientific, technological and innovation performance draw a varied picture. They do not always show the same countries in the lead or the same countries behind. This results from the very different scientific and technological specialisation profiles of EU countries, reflecting long-standing industrial and scientific traditions that are persistent and slow to change.

In general, the EU countries performs well in science but generally less well than their competitors in technology. This mismatch suggests that the EU is suffering from an insufficient exploitation of its scientific and technological potential; this is much less apparent in the US and Japan.

An explanation might be the large presence of high-tech industry in the US, while in Europe medium and medium high-tech industries still tend to dominate. These industries are generally less knowledge intensive and have difficulties in becoming more so. As a consequence, they make less usage of the scientific knowledge available. The opposite can be stated for the US, where knowledge-intensive industries have a higher share of the industrial structure, and they exploit the available scientific knowledge to a greater extent.

The economic development of Ireland suggests that foreign direct investment and high-tech imports can help to speed up the necessary domestic industrial change.

In the next chapter, this issue will be further analysed through the examination of indicators on the impact of the knowledge-based economy on competitiveness.

Part 4: Impacts of the Knowledge-Based Economy on Competitiveness

Education, scientific progress and innovation have always been crucial ingredients of economic activity and important sources of competitiveness. The transition to the knowledge-based economy is enhancing the level of competitiveness of our economies. On the one hand, the sectors and industries that are most involved in the production and exploitation of knowledge are gaining weight and have to compete globally. On the other hand, the integration of knowledge into the day-to-day processes of all parts of the economy is influencing the way economic production is performed and is thus having an impact on overall economic output and competitiveness.

This section analyses, with the help of relevant benchmarking indicators, the impact of the knowledge-based economy on economic features such as labour productivity, and value added and employment in high-tech and medium high-tech industries and in knowledge intensive services.

Key findings

- In terms of labour productivity, the EU competes with the US and is better than Japan. This is valid for the EU average and for most of the EU Member States. The existing gap in output per capita between the EU and the US is principally due to lower employment rates in the EU and to the smaller number of working hours per worker per year.
- The high-tech and medium high-tech industries in the EU have a lower share of value added in overall industrial output than in the US and Japan, but their share of employment is higher.
- The value added of knowledge intensive services varies a lot between EU countries, but are of great significance in all of them.
- Compared to the EU average, the employment in knowledge intensive services is relatively high in the northern EU countries Sweden and Denmark and relatively low in the southern EU countries Portugal, Spain, Italy, and Greece.

4.1 Labour productivity

Labour productivity is related to two main features: the level of technology that is integrated in the work and the knowledge of the worker. The absorptive capacity of the worker – their ability to take on new information and apply it in their work – plays an important role in exploiting the benefits of technological progress. Labour productivity is therefore a useful indicator for showing the extent to which knowledge and technology are being used in economic processes.

One way to measure labour productivity is in terms of GDP per person employed. The values for the EU countries, the US and Japan are presented in Figure 4.1.1, normalised to the EU average.

Luxembourg in on top with a ratio of more than 200%, mainly due to its special economic structure. All other countries are in the range of between 120 and 80, with the exception of Portugal at 65. The US is above the EU average, Japan below.

This concept has some disadvantages; for example, it does not take part-time work into account. To try to complete the picture, therefore, another concept is used in the following benchmarking indicators.

204.0 Luxembourg 120.4 Belgium US 117.5 Italy 115.9 Ireland 114.2 France 110.4 102.6 Finland 100.3 Denmark 100 FU-15 99.1 Austria 97.6 Germany Netherlands 96.5 United Kingdom 93.2 92.1 Sweden 91.0 Spain 88.9 Japan 78.9 Greece 65.0 Portugal 100 120 140 160 180 200 220 80 60 Key Figures 2002 Source: DG Research Data: Eurostat, NewCronos Notes: Data for P and IP are estimated.

Figure 4.1.1. GDP (in PPS 2000) per person employed: 2000 (EU 15=100)

Labour productivity – GDP per hour worked

This benchmarking indicator shows the relationship between economic input in units of labour and the economic output in terms of GDP. It is measured by the GDP per hour worked, in year 2000 expressed in purchasing power standards.

Figure 4.1.2 illustrates that the EU has a similar labour productivity to the US – around 32 – and both are much higher than Japan, at 25. Within the EU, by far the highest labour productivity can be observed for Luxembourg (65), although its small size and special economic structure probably create some distortions. Greece and Portugal are the only two EU countries below Japan.

The rest of the EU countries are within the range of 38 (Belgium and the Netherlands) and 26 (Spain).

Figure 4.1.3 looks at productivity growth rates. In the late 1990s, the EU had an average annual growth rate of 1.6%, which is again similar to that in the US (1.6%), but this time behind Japan (2%). The most dynamic EU country is Ireland, which had a growth rate of almost 6% per year in the late 1990s. Luxembourg (4.9%) and Finland (3.3%) are also well above average. The smallest growth rates were with 0.9 in Italy and Spain.







4.2 High-tech and medium high-tech industries

High-tech and medium high-tech industries are defined by the average shares of their expenditure dedicated to R&D. The strength of these industries in an economy reflects the role of R&D intensive activities for economic growth and employment. A high share of high-tech and medium high-tech industries also shows the potential of an economy to transform scientific and technological knowledge into economic activity. This is explored in greater detail in the relevant benchmarking indicators on the next two pages.

4.3 Knowledge intensive services

An analysis of the distribution of business sector R&D activities between manufacturing and services helps to reveal which types of industrial knowledge creation and absorption activities are taking place in the economy. Traditionally, the service sector has been considered to be only marginally involved in research activity. However, recently it has been recognised that at least some parts of the service sector are both very innovative and are also playing a critical role in the emerging knowledge-based economy. However, low levels of involvement in research activity can be a problem for measuring R&D in the service sector. Quantitatively, the bulk of industrial knowledge creation and absorption activities therefore still take place in the manufacturing sector. There is, however, considerable variation in this share across countries. In the US, the knowledge investment of the service sector (35%) clearly exceeds that of the EU-15 (average 13%). Only two EU Member States allocate relatively more resources to business expenditure on R&D (BERD) in the service sector than the US: Portugal with 44% and Denmark with 36%. The lowest shares can be found in Germany with 8% and in France with 9%.



Value added of high-tech and medium high-tech industries

The value added of high-tech and medium high-tech industries as a percentage of total GDP reflects their importance in a country and helps to evaluate their contribution to economic growth.

In 1999, the EU's share of value added from the high-tech and medium high-tech industry in relation to total output was 7.7%, as seen in Figure 4.2.1. This is slightly lower than that found in the US (8.1%) and much behind Japan (11.4%), which has the highest share of all the countries analysed. Germany and Finland, with 10.9% and 10%, are close to Japan, while Greece trails with 1.7%.

Turning to the changes seen in these shares, Figure 4.2.2 illustrates that on average in the EU, shares have grown in the late 1990s at an annual rate of slightly below 2%. The US achieved 3% growth, while Japan managed only 0.5%. The most dynamic EU country was Finland with almost 13%. Denmark and the UK experienced decreases, the latter at a rate of 0.8%.





Employment in high-tech and medium high-tech industries

The contribution of high-tech and medium high-tech industries to employment is another important factor to analyse. The growing range of employment opportunities for so-called knowledge workers is an important element of the knowledge-based economy.

In 2000, 7.6% of the employment in the EU was in the high-tech and medium high-tech industries – see Figure 4.2.3. This share is higher than in Japan (5.3%) and in the US (6.4%). By far the largest share was in Germany with 11.2%, while the lowest was in Greece with 2.2%.

Figure 4.2.4 shows that employment in these sectors in the EU grew only moderately in the late 1990s – just above 1% and even under the US annual growth (1.7%). The most dynamic growth was in Ireland with almost 7%. Belgium, Denmark and Japan even suffered decreases of around 1%.





Value added of knowledge intensive services

Knowledge intensive services play a unique role in the knowledge-based economy. First, knowledge intensive services employ highly skilled personnel who embody and create new knowledge. Second, knowledge intensive services offer complementary and intermediary functions to manufacturing and other services, helping to increase productivity. In particular, knowledge service providers play a very important role in the productivity of knowledge production.

The share of knowledge intensive services in the GDP is very clearly the highest in Luxembourg (over 60%), as its economy is strongly specialised in human capital intensive financial services. This is far above the EU average, which is around 36%, while all other countries rank between 47 and 21%, as seen in Figure 4.3.2.

In particular the UK, which started with lower shares of knowledge intensive services in GDP, had exceptionally high growth rates at the end of the 1990s (see Figure 4.3.3.). By contrast, Austria, France and Spain, which also started with relatively low shares, saw negative growth rates. The strongest decline, however, took place in Denmark.







Employment in knowledge intensive services

Knowledge intensive services are a significant employer, in particular of highly qualified personnel. Its role as an employer, as shown in Figure 4.3.4, is highest in Sweden (45.7%) followed by Denmark and Luxembourg with a share of over 40%.

The creation of new high skilled employment in the knowledge intensive service sector is the highest in Luxembourg and Denmark, where the importance of knowledge intensive employment is already high. Growth rates are shown in Figure 4.3.5. Countries that have seen slow rates of employment creation in this sector include particularly Finland and Sweden but also France. The latter also started with a relatively low share of knowledge intensive services in employment.







Perspectives

These indicators draw a complex picture of the way in which countries are competing in the transformation of knowledge into products and services.

From a global point of view, the EU is performing well, but there remains room for improvement in comparison with the US and Japan. The EU's relatively high labour productivity in terms of GDP per hour worked implies that in the EU in general, above average levels of highly qualified people are employed. It also indicates that technology is being integrated into working processes. However, although the existing output gap is not principally due to labour productivity differences between the EU and the US, improving the EU's productivity performance remains important to offset the risks from population ageing of negative implications for the potential output of the EU economy.

High-tech and medium high-tech industries contribute significantly to overall employment, but value added is behind Japan. Thus labour in the high-tech sector is less productive than in Japan, which leads to the conclusion that the EU high-tech sector in the EU is not yet the excellent knowledge producer and transformer it is supposed to be. Amongst the EU Member States there are of course exceptions, see for instance the good overall performances by Germany and Finland. Initiatives of the European Union - on the one hand to learn from these positives examples (e.g. benchmarking exercise) and on the other hand to expand the overall efforts (e.g. the 3% decision of the Barcelona Council) - tackle these problems. Knowledge intensive services are expected to gain further importance in production and employment in the emerging knowledgebased economy, because of their particular function in knowledge production. This is reflected in the growth of such employment in all countries since the mid-1990s. Unfortunately, no data for the US and Japan are available for the knowledge intensive service sector, so any comparisons are restricted to the EU countries, in order to see if the same as for the manufacturing sector is valid for the service sector.

Part 5: Research in EFTA and Candidate Countries: Great Potential

The EU has already established research partnerships with the four EFTA countries (Norway, Iceland, Liechtenstein, and Switzerland). The future enlargement involving up to 13 Candidate countries (Bulgaria, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, Poland, Romania, Slovak Republic, Slovenia and Turkey) will offer even greater potential for research and science in the EU. In particular, the integration of these countries in the Framework Programme and the European Research Area (ERA) open up new dimensions and opportunities for Europe.

However, the two country groups are quite diverse in terms of their research potential at the present time. The EFTA countries are all at a higher level of economic development with well-established innovation systems.

Some of the Candidate countries are in transition from socialist to market economies, whereas others, such as Cyprus, Malta and Turkey, face different challenges. In some countries, moreover, the transition of the innovation system is importantly linked with the privatisation of the former state-owned firms and their intra-mural R&D activities.

Key findings

- The EFTA-countries which are at a higher income level (GDP per capita) than the EU average also invest relatively more in R&D activities (with exception of Norway) as well as in the capacity to produce scientific and technological knowledge (human resources in S&T). Also the scientific and technological output as measured by patents and publications is higher than the EU average. Yet, the absolute numbers of course reflect the small size of these economies. The level of high-tech exports is rather low in Iceland and Norway.
- Although the Candidate countries are economically diverse, they are rather similar in terms of a relatively low R&D investment in comparison to the EU average. A common feature for the group of Candidate countries in transition is, however, their strong potential to produce and absorb scientific and technological knowledge which is reflected in high numbers of human resources in S&T. A common feature again is that scientific and technological performance as measured by patents and publications is quite low for all Candidate countries. However, the relatively high number of scientific publications - in comparison to patents - in the group of Candidate countries in transition is probably connected to their abundant human resources in S&T. Also the share of high-tech exports in total exports is generally very low in the Candidate countries far behind the EU average of 19.7% - reflecting their specialisation in other non-high tech sectors. However, Malta is a clear exception with a high-tech share of 64.4% in total exports which is well above the EU average. Hungary and Estonia also achieve values just above the EU average probably as a result of considerable foreign direct investment.

5.1 EFTA-countries: Investment and performances in scientific and technological knowledge production

Creation and absorption of scientific and technological knowledge

Investment in R&D in relation to GDP describes a country's efforts in producing and exploiting scientific and technological knowledge.



Among the EFTA countries Iceland and Switzerland invest more (2.3% and 2.6% respectively) in production and exploitation of scientific and technological knowledge than the EU average (1.9%) while Norway's research efforts represent 1.5% of GDP. In terms of sectoral importance of R&D activities, the most striking feature is the low share of government expenditure on R&D in total gross expenditure (GERD) for Switzerland (Cf. Figure 5.1.1 and Table 5.1.1).

Table 5.1.1. R&D expenditure in EFTA countries (1), 1999

				GERD			
	R&D Intensity (GERD/GDP) %	BERD/GDP ‰	Total Mio ecu	financed by Government %	financed by Business %		
Iceland	2.33	10.90	188	41.2	43.4		
Norway	1.46 ²	9.50	2 733 ²	42.6	49.5		
Switzerland	2.64	19.50	6 865	23.2	69.0		
EU-15	1.93 ³	12.63 ³	164 228 ³	56.3 ⁴	34.2 ⁴		

Source: DG Research

Eurostat/OECD Data:

Key Figures 2002

(1) Data are not available for Liechtenstein. Notes:

(2) 2001 and estimate; (3) 2000 and estimate; (4) estimate.

Human resources in S&T: capacity to produce technological and scientific knowledge

The EFTA-countries with the exception of Liechtenstein⁸, have a higher share of R&D personnel in the labour force, i.e. a stronger

⁽⁸⁾ No data available.

capacity to produce and absorb scientific and technological knowledge than the EU (9.9 per thousand labour force) (Cf. Table 5.1.2). In absolute terms, however, this capacity is quite low: just 4.7% of the total EU R&D personnel. In Switzerland, the relatively low importance of government sector R&D is also reflected in a extremely low share of researchers in the public sector (1.6%). In contrast, Iceland's public sector employs a rather high share of researchers (27.1%).

Table 5.1.2. Human resources in S&T in EFTA countries (1)), 1999
---	---------

			Researchers by sector							
	R&D personnel FTE (2) per thousand labour force	Total R&D personnel FTE	Total FTE	Government sector %	Business sector %	Higher education %				
Iceland	15.3	2 405	1 614	27.1	36.0	35.9				
Norway	10.9	25 402	18 295	16.6	53.2	30.2				
Switzerland	13.0	52 225	25 755	1.6	62.9	35.5				
EU-15	9.9	1 689 490	919 796	14.2	50.0	34.3				

Source: DG Research Data: Eurostat. OECD Key Figures 2002

Notes: (1) Data are not available for Liechtenstein (2) FTE = full-time equivalent

Scientific, technological and economic performance

The EFTA countries – in particular Norway with 33 490 PPS -have a GDP per capita which is considerably higher than the EU average (23 200 PPS per capita). Also the growth rates of GDP, with the exception of Switzerland, are stronger than that of the EU. In particular, in terms of scientific output measured by scientific publications, they also perform better than the EU (755) with the performance of Switzerland being especially noteworthy with 1776 publications per million population. Technological output measured by patents per million population is also far higher in Switzerland (343) than the EU (126), which is the case for Norway and Iceland too. Again, the share of high-tech exports in Switzerland (19.7%) is at a similar level to the EU (19.9%) while Iceland with a share of 1.7% and Norway with a share of 4.4% clearly do not specialise in high-tech products.

Table 5.1.3. Scientific, technological and economic
performance of EFTA Countries

	GDP (1) per capita 2001	Average annual growth of GDP % 1995-2000	Patents (2) per million population 1999	Publications (3) per million population 1999	High-tech (4) exports as % of total exports 2000
Iceland	27 810 ^s	4.79	108	874	1.7
Norway	33 490	3.51	109	933	4.46
Switzerland	27 750 ^s	1.81	343	1 776	19.9
EU-15	23 200 ^s	2.63	126	755	19.7 ⁷

Source: DG Research

Key Figures 2002

Data: Eurostat/European Patent Office/ISI/CWTS/ Comtrade

Notes: (1) in PPS at current prices (2) European patents (3) Publications from 11 fields: agriculture and food science, basic life science, biological sciences, biomedical sciences and pharmacology, chemistry, clinical medicine and health sciences, computer sciences, earth and environmental sciences, engineering sciences, mathematics and statistics, physics and astronomy (4) High tech fields: aerospace, computers & office machinery, electronics, instruments, pharmaceuticals, electrical machinery, chemicals, non electrical machinery, armement (5) Estimate (6) 1999 (7) Extra EU-trade

5.2 Candidate countries: Investment and performances in scientific and technological knowledge production

Creation and absorption of scientific and technological knowledge

In terms of R&D intensity, none of the Candidate countries reaches the level of the EU 1.9%, although Slovenia (1.5%) and the Czech Republic (1.2%) do reach comparatively high levels of R&D expenditure in relation to GDP. Many Candidate countries (Estonia, Poland, Hungary, Slovak Republic and Turkey) invest in R&D at the same level as those Member States with the lowest R&D intensities (such as Greece with 0.7% or Portugal with 0.8%). In all other Candidate countries the R&D intensity is very low.

The share of R&D financed by the business sector – which reflects profit-oriented R&D activities – is lower than the EU average of 56.3% in almost all Candidate countries, with the exception of Slovenia (56.9%), the Czech Republic (52.6%) and Romania (50.2%) (see Table 5.2.1).

Human resources in S&T: capacity to produce technological and scientific knowledge

The Candidate countries today possess a huge potential capacity to produce scientific and technological knowledge. This is reflected by the importance of the total R&D personnel and total researchers (in full-time equivalent) which represent 15.2% and 17.8% respectively of the corresponding human capital stocks in the EU, while total R&D expenditure in the Candidate countries only amounts to 2.4% of that in the EU.

Table	5.2.1 R&	tD invest	tment a	nd hum	an resoi	urces in	S&T in (Candida	te Coun	tries (1)	, 1999
	632			GERD		R&D			Researcher	's by sector	
	k&D Intensity (GERD/ GDP) %	BERD /GDP %0	Total Mio ecu	financed by Govern- ment %	financed by Business %	personnel FTE per thousand labour force	Total R&D personnel FTE ²	Total FTE ²	Govern- ment sector %	Business sector %	Higher education %
Bulqaria	0.57	1.16	69	69.7	22.8		16 087	10 580	66.7	11.8	20.9
Cyprus	0.25	0.50	21	68.5	17.4		681	278	29.7	23.1	42.7
Czech Rep	1.24	7.81	641	42.6	52.6	4.7 ³	24 106	13 535	31.6	42.9	25.0
Estonia	0.75	1.79	37	64.8	24.2		4 545	3 002	20.7	12.6	66.3
Hungary	0.69	2.76	309	53.2	38.5	5.73	21 329	12 579	36.2	25.9	37.9
Latvia	0.41	0.70	26	55.6	15.7		4 301	2 626	28.6	7.3	64.1
Lithuania ⁴	09.0	1.29	73				11 791	777 7	32.9	3.7	63.4
Poland	0.75	3.08	1 086	58.5	38.1		82 368	56 433	19.2	18.3	62.5
Romania	0.40	2.99	134	46.7	50.2	2.93	44 091	23 473	24.3	65.8	9.9
Slovak Rep	0.66	4.16	126	47.9	49.9	5.85	14 849	9 204	26.4	27.4	46.2
Slovenia	1.51	8.32	284	36.8	56.9	8.93	8 495	4 427	34.1	34.8	29.5
Turkey	0.63	2.40	1 094	47.7	43.3	1.0	24 267	20 065	10.9	16.2	72.9
EU-15	1.93	12.63	164 228 ⁶	34.27	56.37	9.9	1 689 490	919 796	14.2	50.0	34.3
ource:	DG Resea	rch								Key Figu	res 2002
Votes:	1) Data ar	re not ava	ilable for	Malta		5) 2001					
	2) FTE = f 3) 2000	ull-time e	quivalent			6) 2000 7) estim	and estim ate	iate			
	4) All valu	ies for Lith	nuania fro	m year 2(000	Data ma to differe	y not be e	comparak cal classif	ole betwee ications.	en countr	ies due



The distribution of researchers across the government, business and higher education sectors indicates where the capacity to produce and absorb scientific and technological knowledge can presently be found. In all Candidate countries the share of the business sector is much lower than the EU (50%) – except Romania (65.8%). In some countries this sector has a particularly low share - for example Lithuania (3.7%), or Latvia (7.3%) - reflecting a very low scientific and technological knowledge creation and absorption capacity in the business sector. However, the real profitoriented business sector in-house R&D capacity cannot be assessed without additional information about the present state of privatisation across the transition countries.

In many Candidate countries the role of researchers in the higher education sector is quite significant – with the notable exception of Romania. In particular, the education sector employs the bulk of the researchers in Turkey (72.9%) and in Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania and Poland (all with over 60%). Bulgaria is the only country in which the public sector has the leading role.

Scientific, technological and economic performance

The average GDP per capita for the EU as a whole (23200 PPS per capita) is considerably higher than in any of the Candidate countries which range between 5 000 and 18500 PPS. There is therefore considerable diversity across these countries, with Cyprus and Slovenia reaching levels near to 20 000 PPS, while Turkey, Bulgaria and Romania reach considerably lower levels. In Romania and Bulgaria the low levels of GDP per capita probably reflect the still on-going transition of the economic system.

In terms of technological output – as measured by patents applied for at the European Patent Office per million population – all Candidate countries range with values between 1 and 22 EPO patents per million population far behind the EU (126). For many of the
Candidate countries this is due to the rather recent emergence of intellectual property rights regimes related to the establishment of market economy conditions.

However, many Candidate countries perform relatively better in the production of scientific knowledge (measured by publications per million population). The difference between the Candidate countries and the EU average (755) is much smaller than is the case of patents. In particular, Slovenia is the best performer among the Candidate countries with 577 publications per million population – and interestingly, it is also top in terms of patents per million population. The relatively high numbers of scientific publications in most Candidate countries in transition are probably associated with their abundant S&T human resources (cf. table 5.2.2).

The share of high-tech exports in total exports is generally very low in the Candidate countries – with a range of 2% to 8%, far behind the EU average of 19.7% - reflecting their specialisation in other non-high-tech sectors. However, Malta is a clear exception with a high-tech share of 64.4% in total exports which is well above the EU average. Hungary (22.9%) and Estonia (21.7%) reach high shares that are above the EU average as a result of the considerable foreign direct investment in high-tech sectors.

	GDP (1) per capita 2001	Average annual growth of GDP % 1995-2000	Patents (2) per million population 1999	Publications (3) per million population 1999	High-tech (4) exports, as % total exports 2000
Bulgaria	6 510	-0.83	3	185	2.36
Cyprus	18 460	3.78	7	170	2.7
Czech Republic	13 280	1.22	10 ⁵	352	7.8
Estonia	9 820	4.90	2	330	21.7
Hungary	11 880	4.02	12	370	22.9
Latvia	7 710	5.28	3	143	2.2
Lithuania	8 730	3.33	1	127	2.7
Malta	:	4.37	5	67	64.4
Poland	9 210	5.14	1	221	2.1 ⁷
Romania	5 860	-1.33	1	70	4.5
Slovak Republic	11 060	3.78	:	293	4.17
Slovenia	15 970	4.34	22	577	3.77
Turkey	5 210	3.95	:	69	4.0
EU-15	23 200 ⁸	2.63	126	755	19.7°

Table 5.2.2. Scienti	fic, technological an	d economic performance of
	Candidate Cour	itries

Source: Research DG

Key Figures 2002

Data: Eurostat/European Patent Office/ISI/CWTS/ Comtrade Notes: (1) in PPS at current prices(2) European patents (3) Put

(1) in PPS at current prices(2) European patents (3) Publications from 11 fields: agriculture and food science, basic life science, biological sciences, biomedical sciences and pharmacology, chemistry, clinical medicine and health sciences, computer sciences, earth and environmental sciences, engineering sciences, mathematics and statistics, physics and astronomy (4) High tech fields: aerospace, computers & office machinery, electronics, instruments, pharmaceuticals, electrical machinery, chemicals, non electrical machinery, armement (5) Czech Republic and Slovakia could not be separated in the data (6) 1997 (7) 1999 (8) Estimate (9) Extra-EU trade

Perspectives

The inclusion of the EFTA and the Candidate countries in the European Framework Programme and the European Research Area as well as the future enlargement of the EU provides great possibilities for European research and its competitiveness.

Given their diversity – whether it concerns their economic performance, sectoral specialisation, technological profile, different historical experiences, national and regional cultures, natural endowments, or policy orientations, to name a few aspects – all the European countries can enrich and contribute to the overall performance of the European Research Area.

Obviously, new and adequate polices and strategies are needed to achieve better synergies in utilising the stock of available human resources in S&T, for example by facilitating greater mobility of researchers throughout the European Research Area. The present low rate of investment in R&D activities and R&D performers indicate weak exploitation of the potential of human resources in S&T. Given the vast capacity for knowledge production and knowledge absorption in an enlarged Europe, better co-ordination of national policies – in addition to more investments – is also needed.

Annex I: Basic Macroeconomic and Demographic Data

	GDP		Population		Young population (25-35)		Employment		Unemployment	
	in mio € 2000	growth (%) 1995-2000	in mio 2000	growth (%) 1995-2000	in 1000 2000	growth (%) 1995-2000	in 1000 2000	growth (%) 1995-2000	in 1000 2001	growth (%) 1995-2001
Belgium	248 338	3.24	10.24	0.21	1 459	-1.48	4 120	1.67	286	-5.72
Denmark	176 490	5.07	5.33	0.43	798	-0.24	2 725	0.87	123	-6.86
Germany	2 025 534	1.50	82.16	0.15	12 167	-2.86	36 324	0.30	3 073	-0.22
Greece	122 986	6.47	10.54	0.19	1 618	0.88	3 946	0.65	457	2.85
Spain	608 787	6.38	39.44	0.13	6 534	0.79	14 450	3.74	1 892	-7.43
France	1 404 775	3.41	59.23	0.41	8 592	-0.16	23 388	1.18	2 221	-3.78
Ireland	103 470	15.25	3.78	0.98	567	2.11	1 672	5.79	68	-14.71
Italy	1 165 677	6.80	57.68	0.14	9 185	0.14	20 930	0.97	2 248	-2.43
Luxembourg	20 564	8.25	0.44	1.39	68	-0.23	262	4.14	4	-3.82
Netherlands	401 089	5.82	15.86	0.56	2 491	-0.97	7 860	2.99	198	-13.63
Austria	204 843	2.64	8.11	0.16	1 277	-2.11	3 683	0.04	137	-1.31
Portugal	115 262	6.89	10.24	0.41	1 648	2.91	4 909	1.90	212	-781
Finland	131 229	5.82	5.17	0.28	662	-2.20	2.367	3.27	238	-7.61
Sweden	248 479	6.24	8.86	0.10	1 237	-0.19	4 125	-0.04	225	-8.26
UK	1 547 902	12.27	59.62	0.38	8 943	-0.98	27 793	1.32	1 485	-7.89
EU-15	8 525 424	5.34	377.89	0.27	57 177	-0.77	158 555	1.30	12 861	-4.41
US	10 689 461	13.57	278.06	0.93	37 189	-1.84	147 036	2.03	6 740	-1.55
Japan	5 162 452	4.99	127.29	0.23	18 567	1.88	66 570	0.61	3 398	8.35

Table I. Basic macroeconomic and demographic data for the EU Member States, the US and Japan

Source: DG Research

Key Figures 2002

Data: GDP, (Un)Employment: Eurostat. (Younger) Population: OECD

Notes: GDP: data for B, DK, EL, E, F, IRL, I, A, P, FIN, S, UK, EU-15 are estimates. Population: EU, US, JP: 2001. Younger population: EU average does not include L. Employment: US: 1999

Annex II: Definitions and Sources

Symbols used

- zero
- 0 less than 0.5 unit

Country codes

В	Belgium	NL	Netherlands	
DK	Denmark	А	Austria	
D	Germany	Р	Portugal	
EL	Greece	FIN	Finland	
E	Spain	S	Sweden	
F	France	UK	United Kingdom	
IRL	Ireland		U U	
Ι	Italy	US	United States	
L	Luxembourg	JP	Japan	
EU-15	European Union (15 Member States)			

General indicators

Gross domestic product (GDP)

Definition: Gross domestic product (GDP) data have been collected according to national accounts definition (ESA 1995 definition). *Source:* Eurostat.

Industrial output

Definition: Industrial output is defined as the domestic product of industry (DPI).

Sources: OECD and Member States. National sources for Japan.

Small and medium-sized enterprises

Definition: Small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) are defined as follows: enterprises which have fewer than 250 employees, and have either, an annual turnover not exceeding ECU/euro 40 million, or an annual balance-sheet total not exceeding ECU/euro 27 million, and conform to the criterion of independence as defined in paragraph 3 in 96/280/EC: Commission Recommendation of 3 April 1996). However, the data received on SMEs do not always comply with the above Eurostat definition. Japanese definition of SMEs relates to companies with less than 300 employees. *Sources:* Member States, Japan (Report on the Survey of Research and Development, Statistics Bureau) and the US (NSF).

Purchasing Power Standards (PPS)

Definitions: Financial aggregates are expressed in Purchasing Power Standards (PPS), rather than in ECU/Euros based on exchange rates. PPS are based on comparisons of the prices of representative and comparable goods or services in different countries in different currencies on a specific date. The calculations on R&D investments in real terms are based on constant 1995 PPS.

Source: Eurostat [see, e.g., Research and development: annual statistics, data 1990–2000 (2001) by Eurostat]

Part 1: Investment in knowledge

Total investment in R&D

Definition: Total research and development expenditure is defined as gross domestic expenditure on R&D (GERD) according to the

Key Figures 2002 76

OECD Frascati Manual definition. The same methodology also applies to data on financing and execution of R&D, which relate to financing/execution of total gross domestic expenditure on R&D.

Sources: Eurostat, Member States, OECD for the US, OECD and national sources for Japan.

Government budget allocated to research

Definition: The government budget allocated to research is defined as government budget appropriations or outlays for R&D (GBAORD) according to the OECD Frascati Manual definition (except in Japan).

Sources: Eurostat and EU Member States. For the US: NSF.

Publicly funded R&D executed by the business enterprise sector

Definition: Publicly funded R&D executed by the business enterprise sector is defined as Business enterprise expenditure on R&D (BERD) financed by government, according to the OECD Frascati Manual definitions.

Sources: OECD, Member States and Japan.

Research and development expenditure financed by industry

Definition: Research and development expenditure financed by industry is defined as GERD financed by the Business enterprise sector according to the Frascati Manual definition.

Sources: Member States; OECD for the US; OECD and national sources for Japan.

Venture capital investment

Definition: Venture capital is defined as private equity capital investment in seed and expansion phase of business plans or enterprises not quoted on a stock market.

The definitions of seed and start-up venture capital investment in the US also include first-stage financing until 1999. Since 2000 both in the EU and US seed start-up capital includes other early stage financing. The Japanese data for early stage financing are based on two assumptions: firstly, early stages correspond to the period before establishment or less than 5 years of the company's life time and, secondly, the ratio of early stage venture capital in new investment is the same as that in total new investment.

In the category of expansion financing the definitions in the EU and US differ in some extent while again the Japanese figure is based on an estimation by Nistep.

Sources: European Venture Capital Association for the Member States and National Venture Capital Association for the US. Source for Japan: The Venture Enterprise Center (VEC)/Nistep.

Part 2: Human resources in S&T

Researchers

Definition: Researchers (Research Scientists and Engineers, RSEs) include the occupational groups ISCO-2 (Professional Occupations) and ISCO-1237 (Research and Development Department Managers). See the "Frascati Manual" (OECD, Proposed standard practice for surveys of research and experimental development, "Frascati Manual", Paris 1993).

Sources: Member States, Benchmarking indicators; Eurostat: Community Labour Force Survey (CLFS), NewCronos database. *Classification:* ISCO: International Standard Classification of Occupation (version 1988).

S&T graduates

Definitions: Graduates are defined by the levels of education classified in ISCED 1997. In these key figures graduates include all tertiary degrees (ISCED 5a and 5b) and PhDs (ISCED 6). The Canberra Manual defines S&T relevant fields of study as follows: it includes the natural sciences and engineering (which can be understood as the core S&T fields – here labelled S&E) also the medical sciences, agriculture (here labelled health and food sciences), the social sciences, arts and humanities and education (Soc/Hum/Educ) (see 'Canberra Manual', OECD, Manual on the measurement of human resources devoted to S&T, "Canberra Manual", Paris 1994).

Sources: Member States, Benchmarking indicators; OECD, Education database.

Classification: ISCED: International Standard Classification of Education (version 1997).

Part 3: Scientific, technological and innovation performance

Publications

Definition: Publications are articles and reviews that were published in journals which are included in the SCI database of the Institute of Scientific Information (ISI).

Sources: ISI, University of Leiden-CWTS (data treatment).

Highly cited papers

Definition: The highly cited papers have been calculated from the top 1% of the most cited publications per sub-field and added at the country level. Only 'articles' and 'reviews' are taken into account. Author self-citations are excluded. The field 'Multidisciplinary' has been excluded. Usage of a three year publication period (1996, 1997, 1998) and a four years fixed citation window, i.e., the citations are calculated including the publication year plus three years. For example, publication year 1997 plus citation window 1998-2000 etc. A full counting method has been used whereby each author/country involved in an international co-publication receives a citation. EU- averages or totals cannot be calculated due to this multiple counting.

For methodological changes in the bibliometric benchmarking data see also Annex III.

Source: ISI, Science Citation Index; treatments and calculations: CWTS.

Patent indicators

Definitions: European patents are the number of patents applied for at the European Patent Office (EPO). US patents are the number of patents granted at the US Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO). The country of origin is defined as the country of the inventor.

Sources: EPO, OST (data treatment); USPTO, Fraunhofer-ISI (data treatment).

High-tech trade

Definition: High-tech trade covers exports and imports of products whose manufacture involved a high intensity of R&D. They

KEY FIGURES 2002 78

are defined in accordance with the OECD's high tech product list (see OECD (1997)). Sources: Eurostat (Comext), UN (Comtrade).

Technology balance of payments receipts

Definition: The technology balance of payments (TBP) records a country's exports and imports of technical knowledge and services (including licences, know-how, trademarks, technical services, etc.). TBP statistics are defined according to the Technology Balance of Payments Manual of the OECD.

Sources: OECD, Eurostat, Member States.

Part 4: Competitiveness

Labour productivity

Definition: Labour productivity is defined as GDP per hour worked.

Sources: Eurostat, Member States.

High-tech and medium high-tech industries

Definition: High-tech and medium high-tech industries are defined by the average shares of their expenses dedicated to R&D, or R&Dintensity. According to the Eurostat definition, the high-tech and medium high-tech industries consist of eight manufacturing sectors: NACE 24 (manufacture of chemicals and chemical products), 29, 34 and 35 (mechanical and automotive engineering, machinery and transport), 30 to 33 (electrotechnology, information and communication, measurement, control and instrumentation, optics). *Sources:* Eurostat, OECD. *Classification:* NACE Rev. 1.

Knowledge intensive services

Definitions: Knowledge intensive services are defined according to the Eurostat definition: post and telecommunications, computer and related activities, research and development, water transport, air and space transport, financial intermediary, real estate, renting and business activities, education, health and social work and recreational, cultural and sporting activities (i.e. NACE Rev.1 codes 61, 62, 64-67, 70-74, 80, 85, 92).

The output of knowledge intensive services is defined as the value added of knowledge intensive services. Total output is defined as gross domestic product (GDP) according to National Accounts ESA 1995 definition.

Employment in knowledge intensive services is the number of employed persons (full and part time) in knowledge intensive services according to the Eurostat definition (as above).

Sources: Eurostat, Member States; Eurostat CLFS; National Sources for Japan.

Part 5: European non-Member States

Definitions: see definitions of the indicators in the previous parts. *Sources:* Eurostat, OECD, EFTA and Candidate countries.

Annex III: Methodological Changes in Bibliometric Benchmarking Data

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)
Belgium	810	897	→	864	\downarrow	4.37	4.65	\downarrow	2.49	\checkmark
Denmark	1 214	1 335	\rightarrow	1 307	\checkmark	3.57	3.76	\downarrow	2.23	\checkmark
Germany	657	754	\checkmark	780	^	4.34	4.81	^	4.42	\checkmark
Greece	340	384	\rightarrow	501	^	7.33	8.12	→	10.13	\uparrow
Spain	471	521	→	613	\uparrow	7.01	7.70	1	7.99	\uparrow
France	652	732	\checkmark	779	\uparrow	2.74	3.28	→	2.90	\checkmark
Ireland	542	593	→	600	\uparrow	7.26	7.53	↓ ↓	5.50	\checkmark
Italy	457	504	→	573	\uparrow	4.17	4.55	\rightarrow	5.28	^
Luxembourg	133	147	→	188	\uparrow	3.27	3.45	↓	6.88	^
Netherlands	963	1 061	→	1 1 2 0	\uparrow	1.41	1.60	\rightarrow	2.14	^
Austria	717	789	→	845	\uparrow	6.05	6.21	\rightarrow	5.36	\checkmark
Portugal	248	280	→	333	\uparrow	15.93	16.57	\rightarrow	14.55	\checkmark
Finland	1 157	1 251	→	1 320	\uparrow	4.92	4.84	\rightarrow	4.19	\checkmark
Sweden	1 431	1 551	→	1 657	\uparrow	3.04	3.38	↓	3.39	\uparrow
UK	949	1 043	\rightarrow	1 1 5 2	^	1.52	1.80	\rightarrow	3.00	^
EU-15	613	754	^	818	\uparrow	2.92	3.92	^	4.07	\uparrow
US	708	777	→	926	\uparrow	-0.08	-0.01	→	3.44	\uparrow
Japan	498	536	→	648	\uparrow	4.26	4.54	\downarrow	6.43	\uparrow

Table III: Number and growth in number of publications (1995-2001)

Source: DG Research

Data: ISI, CWTS (treatments)

Notes: (1) Number of scientific publications per million population, 1999. Original benchmark data.

(2) Number of scientific publications per million population, 1999. Amended calculation according to EC's indicators report (2002).

(3) Indicates changes in rank comparing (2) and (1) data.

(4) Number of scientific publications per million population, 2001. Calculated according to EC's indicators report (2002).

(5) Indicates changes in values comparing (4) to (2) data.

(6) Average annual growth (%) of number of scientific publications, 1995 to latest available year (1999). Original benchmark data.

(7) Average annual growth (%) of number of scientific publications, 1995 to latest available year (1999). Amended calculation using data (2).

(8) Indicates changes in rank comparing (7) to (6) data.

(9) Average annual growth (%) of number of scientific publications, 1995 to latest available year (2001). Amended calculation using data (2).

(10) Indicates changes in rates comparing (9) to (7) data

 $\uparrow \downarrow$ Indicate ups and downs in consecutive rankings \rightarrow signifies no change

Annex IV: Methodology of Composite Indicators

Introduction

The use of composite indicators to assess progress towards the knowledge-based economy is an emerging and pioneering field. Such indicators have already been successfully used at both national and international level in a number of different policy fields where it is necessary to summarise complex multidimensional phenomena¹. In the framework of the Commission's Structural Indicators exercise² it was decided that it would be useful for the Commission services to investigate and develop composite indicators of the knowl-edge-based economy. A number of Commission services have been involved and consulted during the development work including DG Education, Eurostat, DG Information Society and DG Enterprise. External technical assistance with the refinement of the

methodology was provided by Anthony Arundel and Catalina Bordoy of MERIT. The Applied Statistics Group of the Joint Research Centre also contributed significantly to reviewing different approaches and testing the sensitivity of the chosen method³. This latest edition of Key Figures presents some first preliminary results emerging from this work on composite indicators.

What do the composite indicators tell us?

The composite indicators used here are a weighted average of a number of component or sub-indicators (see below). They reveal several things:

- 1) For any given year, they show the position of the country concerned (as the mean of the various base indicators) compared with its partners: if one country's composite index is higher than another's, the country with the higher index is in a better position.
- 2) If we follow one particular indicator for several years, it shows us how the country is progressing over time. If the index is higher in year n+1 than it was in year n, the country's performance (or capacity) has improved over that period.
- 3) The value of an index during year *n* shows the position of the country compared with the European average in the reference year (1995 in this case):
 - a positive index means that the position of the country in year *n* is above the European average for 1995;
 - a negative index means that the position of the country in year *n* is below the European average for 1995.

⁽¹⁾ For example: • United Nations, Human Development Report, 2001 [Human Development Index, Technology Achievement Index]. • International Institute for Management Development, The World Competitiveness Yearbook (2000 and 2001), Lausanne. • Nistep, Composite Indicators: International Comparison of Overall Strengths in Science and Technology», Report No 37, Science and Technology Indicators 1994, A Systematic Analysis of Science and Technology Activities in Japan, January 1995. • World Economic Forum, Pilot Environmental Performance Index, Yale Center for Environmental Law and Policy, 2002. • Alan L. Porter, J. David Roessner, Xiao-Yin Jin and Nils C. Newman, Changes in National Technological Competitiveness: 1990-93-96-99, (available on Internet). • Michael E. Porter and Scott Stern, The New Challenge to America's Prosperity: Findings from the Innovation Index, Council of Competitiveness, Washington DC, 1999. • Progressive Policy Institute, The State New Economy Index, www.neweconomyindex.org/states, 2000.

^{(&}lt;sup>2</sup>) Communication from the Commission : Structural indicators, COM(2001) 619 final, Brussels, 30 October 2001.

^{(&}lt;sup>3</sup>) State-of-the-art Report on Current Methodologies and Practices for Composite Indicator Development, Joint Research Centre - Applied Statistics Group, Ispra, June 2002 (www.jrc.cec.eu.int/uasa/prj-comp-ind.asp).

Component indicators and their weights

The composite indicators are calculated using the component indicators and weights⁴ listed below.

Table IV.1 Component indicators and weightings for the composite indicator on investment in the knowledge-based economy

Component indicators	Conceptual group	Weight
Total R&D (GERD) per capita	Knowledge creation	2/24
Number of Researchers per capita	Knowledge creation	2/24
New S&T PhDs per capita	Knowledge creation	4/24
	Knowledge creation	4/24
Total Education Spending per capita	and	+
	Knowledge diffusion	3/24
Life-long learning	Knowledge creation:	3/24
	human capital	
E-government	Knowledge diffusion:	3/24
	information infrastructure	
Gross fixed capital formation	Knowledge diffusion:	3/24
(excluding construction)	new embedded technology	

The technique adopted here is to base weights of sub-indicators on a conceptual understanding of the phenomenon that we are trying to measure. Each composite indicator contains a number of "conceptual groups". These conceptual groups may contain one indicator or several. The different conceptual groups are given equal weightings, while within each group the components indicators are also accorded an equal weight'. For example, the investment composite indicator contains two conceptual groups : knowledge creation and knowledge diffusion, both of which receive an overall weight of 12/24 (see table above), the component indicator "total education spending" contributing to both groups (4/24 to creation group and 3/24 to the diffusion group). The performance composite indicator has four "conceptual groups" which are equally weighted.

Table IV.2 Component indicators and weightings for a composite indicator on performance in the knowledge-based economy

Component indicators	Conceptual group	Weight
GDP per hours worked	Productivity	4/16
European and US patents per capita Scientific publications	S&T performance	2/16
per capita	S&T performance	2/16
E-commerce	Output of the information infrastructure	4/16
Schooling success rate	Effectiveness of the education system	4/16

Whilst this system may not correspond to the *theoretically ideal* set of weights that we would choose if we knew precisely the contribution of each component indicator to explaining the knowledgebased economy (which is impossible to estimate whatever method we use), it has the advantage of being clear, transparent and conceptually coherent.

⁽⁴⁾ These are the weights used for the calculation of the *positions* of EU Member States. The weights used for the growth rates and for comparisons with the US and Japan are slightly re-adjusted owing to non-availability of some variables or time series (see section below on data availability).

⁽⁵⁾ With the exception of R&D expenditure and numbers of researchers which are given the weighting of one instead of two component indicators because of the close link between these two variables (most of R&D is researchers' salaries).

Calculation method

All methods of calculating a composite indicator must transform indicators that are measured in different units into the same unit. For example, indicators measured in terms of Euros, percentages, and per capita must be transformed into a single measurement unit. The method used here for the composite indicators of the knowledge-based economy is to calculate z-scores (standardised units of the number of standard deviations from the mean).

To be precise, if x_{ji}^{t} is the value of the *j*th component indicator for country *i* at time *t*, for each component indicator one can calculate the standardised z-score:

$$y_{ji}^{t} = \frac{x_{ji}^{t} - x_{jUE}^{0}}{\sigma_{j}^{0}},$$

where x_{jEU}^{o} is the EU average, and σ_{j}^{o} the standard deviation, of the component indicator *j* at time 0. (In the calculations of the composite indicators presented here the base year 0 has been chosen as 1995.) The composite indicator I_{i}^{t} of a country *i* is then calculated as the sum of these standardised values y_{ij}^{t} weighted by the coefficients q_{i} (whose sum is equal to "1", so that the composite indicator is commensurable with its components), i.e. :

$$I_i^t = \sum_{j=l}^m q_j y_{ji}^t$$

The growth rate is calculated using the transformation without the "centring" element, i.e.:

$$y'_{ij}^{t} = \frac{x_{ji}^{t}}{\sigma_{j}^{0}}$$
 instead of $y'_{ij}^{t} = y_{ij}^{t} - \frac{x_{jUE}^{0}}{\sigma_{j}^{0}} = y'_{ij}^{t} - y_{j}^{0}$.

To arrive at this non-centred value we have to add the following,

$$I_0^0 = \sum_{j=l}^m q_j y_j^0$$

To the value of the composite indicator for each country. This operation purely re-scales the indicator along the same axis. If we take then, $I'_i = I_i^t + I_o^0$, the annual average growth rate of the composite indicator between 0 and *t* is

$$\tau_{i}^{t/0} = \left(\frac{I_{i}^{*t}}{I_{i}^{*0}}\right)^{t/t} - 1.$$

Data availability

The availability of complete time series for all countries and component indicators is very important for the calculation of composite indicators, since gaps in data are compounded when aggregating across many variables, countries and years. An important criterion for the selection of the component indicators (along with quality and comparability) was therefore the completeness of the datasets.

Nevertheless, comparable data for some component variables (ecommerce, e-government, education expenditure, life-long learning, schooling success rate) were not available for the US and Japan, and the indicator calculated for comparisons with these countries excludes these components and uses a re-adjusted weighting. Since certain component indicators are only available for one year (no time series), growth rates are calculated excluding these indicators, and the weights have been re-adjusted accordingly.

In particular, in Figure A, for the intra-European comparison, all 7 indicators were included for the investment level in 1999 (horizontal axis), but the indicator on e-government could not be included in the comparison of the growth rates (no data available on e-government for 1995). Luxembourg is not included (no data for most of the indicators).

In Figure B, for the intra-European comparison, all indicators were included for the performance level (horizontal axis), however, the indicator on e-commerce could not be included in the comparison of the growth rates (no data available for 1995). The data for the UK's schooling success rate are partial and not completely harmonised. To allow calculations, UK growth from 1995 to 1999 has therefore been taken as 0, which may lead to a marginal underestimation overall of the performance growth for UK and EU-15.

Bibliography

Arundel, A. & C. Bordoy (2002). Methodological Evaluation of DG Research's Composite Indicators for the Knowledge-based Economy. University of Maastricht/MERIT, Maastricht.

Assessing the Socio-economic Impacts of the Framework Programme (2002). A book prepared by PREST, AUEB, BETA, ISI, Joanneum Research, IE HAS, and Wise Guys. The University of Manchester/PREST, Manchester.

Atkinson, R.D., R.H. Court & J.M. Ward (1999). The State New Economy Index: Benchmarking Economic Transformation in the States. The Progressive Policy Institute, Washington DC.

Benchmarking Industry-science Relationships (2002). OECD, Paris.

Canberra Manual: Manual on the Measurement of Human Resources Devoted to S&T (1994). OECD, Paris.

Education at a Glance (2000). OECD, Paris.

Environmental Sustainability Index, 2002 ESI Report (2002). Yale Center for Environmental Law and Policy, New Haven.

EVCA yearbook 1999 (1999). European Private Equity & Venture Capital Association, Zaventem.

EVCA yearbook 2002 (2002). European Private Equity & Venture Capital Association, Zaventem.

Frascati Manual: Proposed Standard Practise for Surveys of Research and Experimental Development (1993). OECD, Paris.

Main Science and Technology Indicators 2001-2 (2001). OECD, Paris.

National Science Board, Science and Engineering Indicators 2002, Volume 1 (2002). National Science Foundation, Arlington, VA.

National Venture Capital Association Yearbook 2002 (2002). National Venture Capital Association, Arlington, VA.

Niwa, F. & H. Tomizawa (1995). Composite Indicators: International Comparison of Overall Strengths in Science and Technology. *In* Science and Technology Indicator Project Team (ed.): Science and Technology Indicators 1994 – A Systematic Analysis of Science and Technology Activities in Japan. *National Institute of Science and Technology Policy (NISTEP), Report* 37.

OECD Science, Technology and Industry Scoreboard 2001. Towards a knowledge-based economy (2001). OECD, Paris.

OECD, Revision of the High-Technology Sector and Product Classification, STI Working Paper 1997/2, Paris, 1997.

Porter, A.L., J.D. Roessner, X.-Y. Jin & N.C. Newman (2002). Changes in National Technological Competitiveness: 1990-93-96-99. Georgia Institute of Technology, Technology Policy and Assessment Center. Paper available on Internet, <http://tpac.gcatt.gatech.edu/public_papers/hti-90-93-96-99-paper-dbl-spac-oct7.pdf>.

Porter, M.E. & S. Stern (1999). *The New Challenge to America's Prosperity: Findings from the Innovation Index*. Council of Competitiveness, Washington DC.

Research and Development: Annual Statistics, Data 1990–2000 (2002). Eurostat, Luxembourg.

Revision of the High-technology Sector and Product Classification (1997). OECD/STI Working Papers 2/1997.

Science and Technology in Europe. Statistical Pocketbook, Data 1990–2000 (2001). Eurostat, Luxembourg.

State-of-the-art Report on Current Methodologies and Practices for Composite Indicator Development (2002). European Commission – Joint Research Centre/Institute for the Protection and Security of the Citizen. Paper available on Internet, <http://webfarm.jrc.cec.eu.int/uasa/index.asp>.

Structural Indicators (2001). Communication from the Commission, COM(2001) 619 final, 30.10.2001. Commission of the European Communities, Brussels. *<www.cc.cec/sg_vistal>*.

The State and Quality of Scientific Research in Finland (2000). *Publications of the Academy of Finland* 7/2000.

The World Competitiveness Yearbook 2000 (2000). International Institute for Management Development, Lausanne.

The World Competitiveness Yearbook 2001 (2001). International Institute for Management Development, Lausanne.

Towards a European Research Area. Communication from the Commission to the Council, the Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions (2000). European Commission, Luxembourg.

Venture Capital Investment in Japan: For the Third European Report on S&T Indicators. Response to the Research Directorate-General of the European Commission (2002). Unpublished document. National Institute of Science and Technology Policy, Tokyo.

Wissenschafts- und Technologieindikatoren (2001). Statistisches Bundesamt, Wiesbaden.

European Commision

Towards a European Research Area - Science, Technology and Innovation - Key Figures 2002

Luxembourg: Office for Publications of the European Communities

2002 — 84 pp. — 21x14.8 cm.

ISBN 92-894-4205-0

	/enta
	•
	Salg
	_
	/erkauf
	<u> </u>
htt	ωλήσεις •
<u>p:</u>	ົ
eur-c	ales
Ď.	-
9u.int∕g	/ente
ger	-
ieral/en/	/endita
s-a	-
ld.htm	/erkoop
	•
	Venda
	•
:	/lyynti
	•
	örsäljnin

BELGIQUE/BELGIE

Avenue du Roi 202/Koningslaan 2 3-1190 Bruxelles/Brussel Teil. (32-2) 538 43 08 Tax (32-2) 538 08 41 E-mail: jean.de.lannoy@infoboard JRL: http://www.jean-de-lannoy.bu Jean De Lannoy .be 202

librairie européenne/ Europese Boekhandel

Rue de la Loi 244/Wetstraat 2 B-1040 Bruxelles/Brussel Tel: (32-2) 295 26 39 Fax (32-2) 735 08 60 E-mail: mail@libeurop.be URL: http://www.libeurop.be 244

Noniteur belge/Belgisch Staatsblad

Rue de Louvain 40-42/Leuvensew B-1000 Bruxelles/Brussel Tél. (32-2) 552 22 11 Fax (32-2) 511 01 84 E-mail: eusales@just.fgov.be weg ę

J. H. Schultz Information DANMARP ş

Herstedvang 12 DK-2620 Albertslund Tif. (45) 43 63 23 00 Fax (45) 43 63 19 69 E-mail: schultz@schultz.dk URL: http://www.schultz.dk

AND

Vertriebsabteilung Amsterdamer Straße 192 D-50735 Kdb Tel. (49-221) 97 66 80 Fax (49-221) 97 66 82 78 Fax (49-221) 97 66 82 E-Mail: vertrieb@bundesanzeiger.d URL: http://www.bundesanzeiger.d Bundesanzeiger Verlag GmbH de

AA∆A/GREECE

م anepistimi GR-10564 A Tel. (30-1) 33 Fax (30-1) ? E-mail: و JRL: ' Ģ C. Eleftheroudakis . (30-1) 331 41 80/1/2/3/4/5 ((30-1) 331 41 80/1/2/3/4/5 ((30-1) 325 84 99 nail: elebooks@netor.gr L: elebooks@hellas.net.gr il Bookstore ou 17 ŝ

SPANA

Boletín Oficial del Estado

Trafalgar 27 E-28071 Madrid Tel. (34) 915 38 2111 (libros) 913 94 17 15 (suscipción) Fax (34) 915 38 2121 (libros) 913 94 17 14 (suscipción) E-mail: clientes grom boe es URL: http://www.boe.es

Mundi Prensa Libros, SA

Castelló, 37 E-28001 Madrid Tel. (34) 914 86 37 00 Fax (34) 915 75 39 98 E-mail: libreria @mundiprensa.e URL: http://www.mundiprensa. 1. es

FRANCE

Service des publications des CE 26, rue Desaix Er-55727 Paris Cedex 15 Teil. (23): 440.65.77.31 Fax. (23): 440.65.77.00 E-rasi: europublications@jumal-officiel.9 URL: http://www.journal-officiel.9puv.fr Journal officiel I.gouv.ti

Alan Hanna's Bookshop

RELAND

270 Lower Rathmines Road Dublin 6 Tel. (353-1) 496 73 98 Fax (353-1) 496 02 28 E-mail: hannas@iol.ie

ITALIA

Via Duca di Calabria, 1/1 Casella postale 552 L-50125 Firenze Tel. (39) 055 64 83 1 Fax (39) 055 64 12 57 E-mal: licosa@licosa.com URL: http://www.licosa.com Licosa Sp/

Messageries du livre _UXEMBOURG SARL

5, rue Raiffeisen L-2411 Luxembourg Tél: (352) 40 10 20 Fax (352) 49 06 61 Fax (352) 49 06 61 E-mail: mail@mdl.lu URL: http://www.mdl.lu

Christoffel Plantijnstraat 2 Postbus 20014 2500 EA Den Haag Tel. (31-70) 378 98 80 Fax (31-70) 378 97 83 E-mail: sdu@sdu.nl URL: http://www.sdu.nl SDU Servicecentrum Uitgevers NEDERLAND Distribuidora de Livros Bertrand Ld.ª PORTUGA

Grupo Bertrand, SA Rua das Terras dos Vales, Apartado 60037 P-2700 Amadora Tel. (351) 214 95 87 Fax (351) 214 96 02 55 E-mail: db@ p.pt . 4-2

42

Imprensa Nacional-Ca da 138 Moeda SA

Sector de Publicações Oficie Rua da Escola Politécnica, -P-1250-100 Liboa Codex Tel. (351) 213 94 57 00 E-mail: spoce @incm.pt URL: http://www.incm.pt

SUOMI/FINLAND

Keskuskati 1/Centralgatan 1 PUPB 128 FIN-00101 Heisinki/Helsingfors P.thr.(358-9) 121 44 18 F.tax (358-9) 121 44 35 Sahkkjosti: sps@atateeminen.com URL: http://www.atateeminen.com Akateeminen Kirjakauppa/ Akademiska Bokhandeln

SVERIGE

Traktorvägen 11-13 S-221 82 Lund Til: (46-46) 18 00 00 Fax (46-46) 30 79 47 E-post: btjeu-pub@btj.s URL: http://www.btj.se BTJ AB .se

UNITED KINGDOM

Customer Services PO Box 29 Nowich NR3 1GN Tel. (44) 870 60 05-522 Fax (44) 870 60 05-533 E-mail: book.orden@theso.co.t URL: http://www.itsofficial.net The Stationery Office Ltd Ĕ

ISLAND

Skólav IS-101 Tel. (3 Fax (3 E-mail Bokabud Larusar Blöndal

slavördustig, 2 101 Reykjavik (354) 552 55 40 (354) 552 55 60 nall: bokabud @simnet.

Euro Info Center Schweiz SCHWEIZ/SUISSE/SVIZZER/

c/o OSEC Business Network S Samplenbachstraße 85 F49035 Zürich Tel. (41-1) 365 53 15 Fax (41-1) 365 54 11 E-mälle eiss@csec.ch URL: http://www.osec.ch/eics Switzerland

BALGARIJA

Europress Euromedia

59, blvd Vitosha BG-1000 Sofia Tel. (359-2) 980 37 66 Fax (359-2) 980 42 30 E-mail: Milena @mbox.cit.bg URL: http://www.europress.bg Ē

CYPRUS

Cyprus Chamber of Commerce a PO Box 21455 CY-1509 Nicosia Tel. (357-2) 88 97 52 Fax (357-2) 86 10.44 E-mail: demetrap@ccci.org.cy and Industry

EESTI Eesti Kaubandus-Tööstuskoda

(Estonian Chamber of Corr Toom-Kooli 17 EE-10130 Tallinn Tel: (372) 646 02 44 Fax (372) 646 02 45 E-mail: einfo@koda.ee URL: http://www.koda.ee 17 17 Commei 6 and industry

> Pavla Hatza 1 HR-10000 Zagreb Tel. (385-1) 481 94 Fax (385-1) 481 94 Mediatrade Ltd HRVATSKA

MAGYARORSZÁG

Euro Into Service Szt. István kt.12 Ille enelet 1/A PD Box 1039 PD Box 1039 PD 1050 1039 21 Tel. (36-1) 329 21 70 Fax (36-1) 349 20 53 E-mail: euroinfo Beuroinfo.hu URL: http://www.euroinfo.hu

MALTA Miller Distributors Ltd

Luqa LQA 05 Tel. (356) 66 44 8 Fax (356) 67 67 9 E-mail: gwirth@u Pa vo Box ⊾ a LQA 356) a International . Box 25 ns 88 88 88 Airport .⊓e

NORGE

Hans Nielsen Hauges gl. 39 Boks 4901 Nydelen N-0423 Oslo 0000 Tel. (47) 23 40 0001 E-rak (47) 23 40 0001 E-rak inflor no swetsblackwell com UR:... http://www.swetsblackwell.com.no Swets Blackwell AS

POLSKA Ars Polona

Krakowskie Przedmiescie 7 Skr. pocztowa 1001 PL-00-950 Warszawa Tel. (48-22) 826 12 01 Fax (48-22) 826 62 40 E-mail: books119@arspolona.com.pl E-mail: books119@arspolona.com.pl

ROMÂNI

Euromedia Str.Dionisie Lupu nr. 65, sector 1 RO-70194 Bucuresti Tel. (40-1) 312 96 46 E-mall: euromedia@ malicity.com

SLOVAKIA

Nám. Slobody, 19 SK-81223 Bratislava Tel. (421-7) 54 41 83 64 E-mail: europætbol sitk.stuba.sk URL: http://www.sitk.stuba.sk :'르오 Centrum VTI SR

SLOVENIJA

Dunajska cesta 5 SLO-1000 Ljubijana Tel. (386) 613 09 1804 Fax (386) 613 09 1805 E-mail: europ@gvestnik.si URL: http://www.gvzalozba.s GV Zalozba ò

TURKIYE

Dünya Infotel AS 100, Yil Mahallessi 34440 TR-80050 Bagcilar-Istanbul Tel. (90-212) 629 46 827 Fax (90-212) 629 46 27 E-mail: aktuel.info@dunya.cc 1.00

World Publications SA ARGENTIN

Av. Cordoba 1877 C1120 AAA Buenos Aires Tel. (54-11) 48 15 81 56 Fax (54-11) 48 15 81 56 E-mail: wpbooks@infovia.co URL: http://www.wpbooks.c AUSTRALIA s.com 1.ar

Hunter Publications

PO Box 404 Abbotsford, Victoria 3067 Tel. (61-3) 94 17 53 61 Fax (61-3) 94 19 71 54 E-mail: jpdavies@ ozemail.c .com.au

Livraria Camões BRESIL

Rua Bittencourt da Silva, 1 CEP 20043-900 Rio de Janeiro Tel. (55-21) 262 47 76 Fax (55-21) 262 47 76 E-mail: livraria.camoes @ir 20043-900 Rio de Janeiro Tel. (55-21) 282 47 76 E-mail: livraria.camoes @incm.com.b URL: http://www.incm.com.br 12 o ē

CANADA

3020, chemin Sainte-Foy Sainte-Foy, Québec G1X 3V6 Tel. (1-418) 658 37 637 Fax (1-600) 567 54 49 E-mail: liberte@mediom.qc.ca Les éditions La Liberté Inc.

Renouf Publishing Co. Ltd

5369 Chemin Canotek Road, Unit 1 Ottawa, Ontario K11 933 Tel. (1-f3) 745 2665 Fax (1-f3) 745 7660 E-mail: order.dep@enoufbooks.com URL: http://www.renoufbooks.com

EGYPT

Cairo Tel. (20-2) 392 69 19 Fax (20-2) 393 97 32 E-mail: inquiry@meobserver.com URL: http://www.meobserver.com.et 41 Sherif Str The Middle East Observer ee ē

MALAYSIA

EBIC Malaysia Suite 45.02, Level 45 Plaza MBT (Letter Box 45) 8. Jalan Yap Kwan Seng 50450 Kuala Lumpur Tel. (60-3) 21 62 92 98 Fax (60-3) 21 62 61 98 Fax (60-3) 21 62 61 98

MEXICC ŝ

Río Pánuco, 141 Coloria Cuauhtémoc MX-06500 México, DF Tel (52-5) 53 65 88 Fax (52-5) 514 67 99 E-mail: 101545.2361@ compu: Mundi Prensa México, de 8

serve.com

SOUTH AFRICA

PO Box 781738 2146 Sandton Tel. (27-11) 884 39 52 Fax (27-11) 883 55 73 E-mail: info@eurocham Eurochamber of Commerce in South Africa

SOUTH KOREA nber 8

.za

The European Union Chamber Commerce in Korea <u>q</u>

5th FI, The Shila Hotel 202, Jangchung 4 ong 2 Ga, C Seoul 100, 392 Tel. (82-2) 22 53-5631/4 Fax (82-2) 22 53-5635/6 E-mali: eucck@eucck.org URL: http://www.eucck.org Chung 춛

EBIC Sri Lanka SRI LANKA

Trans Asia Hotel 115 Sir Chittampalam A. Gardiner Mawatha Colombo 2 Tel. (94-1)074 71 50 78 Fax (94-1)44 87 79 Fax (94-1)eticsl@slnet.ik 28

T'AI-WAN

Tycoon Information Inc PO Box 81-466 105 Talpei Tel (886-2) 87 12 88 86 Fax (886-2) 87 12 47 47 E-mail: eutupe @ms21.hinet.net

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

4611-F Assembly Drive Lanham MD 20706-4391 Tel. (1-800) 274 44 47 (tol Fax (1-800) 865 3450 (tol Fax (1-800) 865 3450 (tol E-mail: query @bernan.co URL: http://www.bernan.c Bernan Associates (toll free (toll free telept fax) none

n.com

ANDERE LÄNDER OTHER COUNTRIES AUTRES PAYS

2, rue Mercier 2, rue Mercier L-2985 Luxembourg Tel. (352) 29 29-427458 Fax (352) 29 29-427458 E-mail: info-info-opoce@ URL: publications.eu.int Bitte wenden Sie sich an ein Büro Ihrer Wahl/Please contact the sales office of your choice/Veuillez vous adresser au bureau de vente de votre choix for Official Publi 2 the Europ

3

2/200